

Affordable Access to GLP-1 Obesity Medications: Strategies to Guide Market Action and Policy Solutions

April 9, 2025

Steven D. Pearson, MD, MSc

Special Advisor
Institute for Clinical and Economic Review

Christopher M. Whaley, PhD

Associate Professor

Department of Health Services, Policy, and Practice

Brown University

Sarah K. Emond, MPP

President and Chief Executive Officer
Institute for Clinical and Economic Review

Table of Contents

Introduction	3
Methods	5
Background	6
Obesity Medications	6
The Advent of GLP-1 Receptor Agonists	7
Compounded Versions of GLP-1 Drugs	12
Pipeline of Future GLP-1 Obesity Medications and Pricing Implications	13
Current Coverage Patterns and Financial Impact of GLP-1s	16
Potential Market Strategies	20
1. Temporary Coverage Denial	20
2. Enhanced Prior Authorization and Formulary Management	23
3. Provider Network Management	30
4. Innovative Payment Arrangements	31
5. Carve-out Programs for Obesity Management Services	33
Potential Federal Policy Interventions	35
1. Improve Access by Offering Coverage for Obesity Drugs in Medicare	35
2. Improve Access in Private Insurance Through Action by the USPSTF	37
3. Reduce Costs Through Aggressive Federal Drug Price Negotiation	38
4. Reduce Costs by Providing Federal Subsidies for Private Insurance Coverage of Obesity Treatments	38
5. Reduce Costs by Licensing GLP-1 Products from Drugmakers	39
Conclusion	40
Appendix A: 2024 ICER Policy Summit Attendees	42
References	/13

Introduction

Glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) receptor agonists and GLP-1/gastric inhibitory polypeptide (GIP) receptor agonists are among the most noteworthy and widely known medical innovations of the past few decades. These new obesity medications (OMs), currently exemplified by semaglutide (Wegovy®, Novo Nordisk) and tirzepatide (Zepbound®, Eli Lilly and Company), offer weight reduction and associated health benefits that, if sustained over time, have the potential to markedly improve population health. However, over 40% of U.S. adults have obesity, translating into more than 100 million potential new users of OMs. Standing in the way of the major opportunity to improve health for these individuals is the massive and likely ongoing cost of treating such a large segment of the population. Although ICER has judged the net price for semaglutide, and by extension for tirzepatide, as meeting reasonable cost-effectiveness levels in the U.S. market,¹ the number of potential users creates a scale of spending on a single drug class that some analysts have estimated will reach over \$100 billion annually within the next five years.²,³

At this scale of potential use, there is a stark distinction between a new treatment being "costeffective" as opposed to it being "affordable." Cost-effectiveness analyses measure the estimated long-term benefits against the cumulative costs and cost offsets of new treatments. But whether a treatment is or is not affordable reflects a shorter-term view, often judged over a year or two, of whether those paying the costs for the new intervention have the budgetary elasticity to absorb those new costs. Conceptually, new spending for a treatment should not exceed amounts that would cause short-term increases to insurance premiums or shifts in other spending that would, overall, produce serious negative consequences outweighing the clinical benefits realized by patients receiving the new treatment. Therefore, despite analyses suggesting that the long-term outcomes and costs at current net pricing of GLP-1 drugs represent a reasonable value to the health system, the rising tide of GLP-1 use and the scale of potentially eligible individuals has raised serious affordability concerns among both public and private payers. Considerations of fair pricing therefore cannot be based solely on a paradigm of long-term cost-effectiveness, and prioritization of patients to receive coverage becomes a critical issue. Unfortunately, one potential, if not likely, outcome is that the U.S. will stumble badly in the introduction of new OMs, reaping less of the benefit than it could, while reinforcing deeply entrenched disparities in access and health outcomes across different groups in society.

Although the new OMs cast in high relief the tension between the scale of the opportunity for improved health and the magnitude of the financial implications, the tension is far from unique. Among other diseases affecting more than 10 million Americans are major depression, high cholesterol, type 2 diabetes, and dementia.⁴ Gene therapies and other major advances in the care for these conditions are in development. The prospect of a new transformative therapy for any of these conditions would raise major opportunities for public health improvement with attendant

budgetary concerns, as was demonstrated by the tense debates over the financial implications for Medicare should new amyloid-reducing drugs for Alzheimer's disease be widely adopted.⁵

But is the outlook always so dire when trying to manage costs and access to widely used transformative treatments? Despite several important contextual differences, the story of the rollout of new treatments for hepatitis C, starting in 2014, suggests to some that treatment of large segments of the population can be made affordable through market forces and the regular functioning of competition to drive more choice and lower costs. Unlike new OMs, the novel hepatitis C treatments are short-term treatments that usually provide a complete cure. When they were first introduced, the competitive landscape allowed for rapid adoption of single-formulary approaches, and the lack of clinical experts skilled in their prescription led to a natural dampening of uptake. Nonetheless, the new treatments for hepatitis C presented the health system with the same fundamental tension between substantial cost in the short term and resulting health benefits and cost offsets that only accrued years downstream. Relatively rapidly, however, prices dropped substantially after a growing number of competing treatments were introduced, allowing private and public payers to accommodate treatment for a large percentage of eligible patients without compromising affordability.

Whether the experience with hepatitis C drugs represents a template for what to expect with new OMs can be hotly debated, and even with the price reductions seen with hepatitis C treatments, many public health experts still view the story as one in which financial constraints have continued to prevent the U.S. from achieving a broader public health triumph. What is clear is that the new generation of OMs represents another challenge, at an even greater scale, and a chance to do a better job of providing affordable and equitable access to transformative therapies at a population level. New ideas, new strategies, and new policies will be needed to make progress toward the common goal of ensuring affordable and equitable access for new OMs.

The purpose of this white paper is to analyze the range of emerging market approaches and possible policy reforms that have the potential to help achieve this goal. There are stark differences between approaches, which range from relatively "open door" coverage and payment to denial of coverage for any treatment of obesity. Within this paper, we analyze the relative advantages, the barriers, and the potential unintended consequences for each market or policy option, and explore the pros and cons of combining strategies either internally within an insurance system or externally through stand-alone obesity management providers. None of the market actions or policy reforms we will discuss are "silver bullets" that can singlehandedly solve all the barriers and tensions inherent in trying to maximize affordable access while retaining incentives for future innovation. Still, we seek to present policymakers and industry leaders with insights and lessons learned from experts while offering a menu of options for the future that will help all stakeholders play an active part in an innovative future of pricing, coverage, and payment for new OMs.

Methods

Information to inform this paper was gathered in two ways: a targeted literature review, and interviews with key content experts, policymakers, and representatives from organizations that participate in ICER's Policy Leadership Forum.

The targeted literature review included keyword and hand searches for peer-reviewed and gray literature articles focusing on the use of obesity medications in the U.S. This included examination of clinical trial data, real-world effectiveness studies, and analyses of safety and long-term outcomes. Additional information was gathered from relevant clinical guidelines, publications from professional medical societies, purchaser coalition white papers, and patient advocacy group materials.

Guided by perspectives gathered through this literature review, the ICER research team created a structured discussion guide and a list of a menu of potential market or policy actions that could be considered in helping to achieve affordable access to OMs. We then conducted fourteen 45-minute interviews with key policy experts to explore their experience in the OM landscape and their views on potential new market or policy options for the future, including, but not limited to, the menu of options developed as a starting point by the ICER team.

In December 2024, senior policy leaders from 26 payer and life science companies were joined by patient advocacy, employer, state, and Medicaid experts at a two-day meeting to deliberate on the potential market strategies and federal policy interventions and provide suggestions for revisions to a draft version of this paper. The participants in this meeting are shown in Appendix A. None of these participants or their organizations should be considered as approving of any element of this paper. The perspectives and recommendations presented here are those of the editorial team at ICER and Brown University alone.

Background

Obesity is one of most significant public health crises in the United States. Using a threshold of BMI ≥30 (weight in kilograms/height in meters²) as the diagnostic criterion, the proportion of adults with obesity in the U.S. has increased from 13 percent in 1960 to over 40 percent today.⁶ The proportion of Americans who meet the broader criteria for overweight, or BMI ≥27, rises to over 70%. Numerous studies link obesity to increased risks for diabetes, cardiovascular disease, cancer, and overall mortality. Obesity also drives increased health care costs, with the direct costs of obesity now estimated at between \$170 and \$260 billion per year in the U.S.^{7,8} Broader economic and societal costs are undoubtedly far higher.⁹

All these negative health and economic effects are not borne equally, with non-white and lower-income populations having notably higher rates of obesity. People living with obesity are also subject to widespread stigma that has always overshadowed care for this chronic condition. Because obesity can start in childhood, the stigma can affect social interactions, educational development, relationships, and work. The net effect is that obesity can have a profound impact on all aspects of patients' lives and those of their families.

The stigma of obesity arises from societal perceptions that attribute weight gain to an individual's inability to control what they eat or to engage in adequate physical activity. However, it is becoming more widely recognized that energy balance dysregulation is the result of complex and not fully understood interactions among complex genetic factors and dietary, societal, and economic influences that have contributed to the rise in obesity in nations across the globe. 13,14

Multiple public policies have sought to stem the "obesity epidemic," ranging from early-life interventions, such as school nutrition and exercise programs, to taxes on unhealthy foods, to health system requirements for nutritional counseling programs. Despite the importance of preventive efforts at the societal level, they have had limited success and the number of people living with obesity has only continued to grow over time, with major negative consequences for health and well-being.

Obesity Medications

The goal of therapy for obesity is to prevent, treat, or reverse its complications, including its impact on quality of life. Efforts by individuals to attain healthy weight, as well as initial weight loss interventions suggested or prescribed by clinicians, usually start with a focus on healthful nutrition, increased physical activity, and behavioral modifications. Though helpful for some, the weight loss achieved through changes to diet and exercise is usually modest, and many people regain weight over time, frequently leading to long, repeated, and frustrating cycles of ineffective efforts to achieve durable weight loss.

For people who do not achieve desired weight loss with lifestyle changes alone, various pharmacotherapy options, such as earlier generations of OMs, can support weight loss when combined with calorie reduction and physical activity. Obesity medications approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) prior to the new generation of GLP-1 therapies include phentermine (1959), orlistat (Xenical®, H2 Pharma, 2007), phentermine/topiramate (Qysmia®, Vivus, 2012) and bupropion/naltrexone (Contrave®, Currax Pharmaceuticals, 2014).

These earlier OMs are oral drugs taken daily. Because or listat causes intestinal side effects and results in only modest weight loss, it is less commonly used for initial medication management. Phentermine is an amphetamine-like medication that suppresses appetite and is approved for short-term use (less than 12 weeks). It is also available in combination with topiramate, a carbonic anhydrase inhibitor used to treat seizures. Another treatment option combines bupropion, an inhibitor of norepinephrine and dopamine approved as a treatment for depression and anxiety, with naltrexone, an opioid antagonist that blocks the effect of opioid pain medications. Since phentermine, topiramate, bupropion, and naltrexone are all available as single agents, clinicians may also use them off label alone and in various combinations for weight loss.

ICER reviewed these earlier OMs in 2022 in a report also evaluating early data on semaglutide.¹ Given no head-to-head comparative data, ICER performed an indirect network meta-analysis across all existing trials that found an average weight loss, when drugs were combined with calorie reduction and physical activity, of 13.7% for semaglutide, 9.1% for phentermine/topiramate, and 4.6% for bupropion/naltrexone. Side effects were noted to be higher for earlier OMs, and more recent observational data from the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) has found discontinuation due to adverse effects between 21%-26% for earlier OMs in comparison to discontinuation from side effects of 14% among patients taking semaglutide.¹⁵

The cost of earlier OMs, even in their combination branded forms, is much less than that for currently available brand GLP-1 medications. For example, the annual cost of phentermine/topiramate (Qsymia) is approximately \$1,465, while buproprion/naltrexone (Contrave) costs \$2,095. ¹ Due to their relatively low cost and the lack of alternative treatment options, these medications have been commonly used for many years by obesity specialists. The role of these earlier OMs within current obesity management platforms being offered to purchasers and insurers will be discussed later in this paper.

The Advent of GLP-1 Receptor Agonists

The arrival of the new generation of OMs came after almost two decades of the use of GLP-1 medications in the care of patients with type 2 diabetes. Clinical trials targeting diabetes outcomes had demonstrated that these drugs also produced weight loss, leading drugmakers to pursue formal approval for this new indication. The first GLP-1 receptor agonist in the U.S. approved for treatment of obesity was liraglutide (Saxenda®, Novo Nordisk), in 2014. Seven years

later, semaglutide, first developed by Novo Nordisk under the trade name Ozempic®, which had been used for diabetes since 2017, received a new FDA approval for obesity as Wegovy® in 2021. Tirzepatide, a combination GLP-1/GIP receptor agonist that also had an earlier life as a treatment for diabetes under the trade name Mounjaro®, received approval for the treatment of obesity as Zepbound® in November 2023. Both semaglutide and tirzepatide are given by weekly subcutaneous injection. Because liraglutide produces less weight loss and requires daily injections, clinical interest to date has centered on semaglutide and tirzepatide as the primary options within the new generation of OMs. An overview of each new OM, including its current FDA label and pricing for obesity treatment, is shown in Table 1.

GLP-1 medications stimulate insulin release, suppress glucagon, and decrease appetite in the brain.¹⁷ Functionally, these new OMs slow the passage of food from the stomach to the intestine, resulting in feeling full for a longer period of time.¹⁸ The most common side effects are nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, and constipation. These symptoms are usually more pronounced at the beginning of treatment and decrease over time, but high rates of discontinuation of treatment with GLP-1 drugs have been noted in observational analyses. In a study from Prime Therapeutics of over 16 million commercially insured people in 2021 who did not have diabetes but were treated with GLP-1 drugs, adherence to treatment over one year was only 36% for patients who initiated treatment with Wegovy, and 47% with Ozempic.¹⁹ This report should be viewed cautiously given that in 2021 patients without diabetes treated with Ozempic were being treated off-label, GLP-1 products were in shortage, and patients may have faced new cost sharing and insurance restrictions that curtailed ongoing use. A follow-on study presented in April 2025 showed that only 14.3% of patients were still on therapy at the end of two years.

A report from Blue Health Intelligence in May 2024 showed that less than half of patients prescribed semaglutide remained on the prescription for 12 weeks or more. Similarly, a retrospective study of 1,959 patients in the VA found that 43% of patients had discontinued treatment by 12 months. Similar findings were reported from a large study across multiple private sector health systems. Discontinuation rates for drugs treating other chronic conditions are often similar, or higher. For example, real-world discontinuation rates for statins in the treatment of hypercholesterolemia have been found to range from 25%-50%. It is also important to note that in all of the studies on GLP-1 use to date, none other than the VA study has sought to determine the reason for lack of persistence. In the VA study, approximately 30% of patients who discontinued treatment (14% of all patients prescribed) did so due to adverse side effects. Another 25% of patients who discontinued faced difficulty obtaining their drug due to drug shortages.

Clinical trials of GLP-1s for obesity have consistently demonstrated substantial average weight loss and, in some cases, broader health benefits such as reduced cardiovascular events and improvements in obstructive sleep apnea. The full ICER report details these benefits. However, there are important remaining uncertainties that should not be overlooked. Whether individuals sustain weight loss over longer time periods is a major question given that any reduction in long-

term cardiovascular or other benefits may require ongoing adherence to treatment. Uncertainties also remain about how many patients will decide to discontinue use after achieving target weight loss, and whether cardiac or other benefits are sustained following discontinuation of GLP-1s. In addition, while GLP-1s have a nearly 20-year history of safe use for diabetes treatment, long-term data on the safety of the higher doses used for obesity treatment are not yet available. All GLP-1s have FDA black box warnings for a potential association with thyroid cancer.

Another area of uncertainty relates to lifestyle management. Although cardiometabolic treatments have been indicated as an adjunct to diet and exercise for decades, evidence-based guidance on which lifestyle and weight management programs are most effective in complementing GLP-1 drugs is lacking. Given that most patients with obesity do not face a significant risk of an adverse event in the short term, for some of the stakeholders we interviewed in the purchaser and payer communities, the remaining uncertainties about GLP-1s suggest that broad use for obesity should be cautiously advanced, with priority given to treating patients at greatest risk of complications from obesity, until longer-term data on safety and effectiveness are available. Clinical experts, patient advocates, and the majority of purchasers and payers we spoke with do not harbor significant concerns about the safety and effectiveness of GLP-1s. For them, cost is the most challenging issue.

As shown in Table 1, current estimated annual net prices for GLP-1s used for obesity in the U.S. commercial market range from approximately \$8,000 to \$9,000. Prices charged by GLP-1 drugmakers in their own direct-to-consumer offerings outside of insurance are lower, approximately \$499 per month, or \$5,988 annually. Prices have fallen substantially from the \$12,000-\$14,000 cited in ICER's 2022 evaluation of obesity medications. As noted earlier, ICER's cost-effectiveness modeling at that time suggests that today's lower prices for GLP-1 drugs, net of all rebates and discounts, fall solidly within the general range considered reasonable long-term value for money in the U.S. context. However, whether current net prices for GLP-1s are "fair" remains a topic of vigorous debate. Those critical of current pricing have raised multiple considerations that they feel trump a pure cost-effectiveness paradigm. These critics raise several perspectives in arguing that current prices are too high:

- The cost impact of current pricing across such a large patient population will heighten inequities in access to effective treatment for obesity.
- Even at lower prices drugmakers would make significant profits, far outstripping usual returns on investment for most blockbuster agents, suggesting that lower prices would not harm future innovation.
- Pricing in the U.S. market is far higher than in high-income <u>European nations</u>. For example, at a Congressional hearing, legislators highlighted that net prices for Wegovy in the U.S. are approximately \$8,000-\$9,000 per year, whereas the approximate annual cost for the same product is \$2,232 in Denmark, \$1,680 in Germany, and \$1,104 in the United Kingdom.

- Net unit pricing of semaglutide and tirzepatide in the obesity-labeled Wegovy and Zepbound are approximately 1.5-2.8 times higher than the price for the same molecules in the brands Ozempic and Mounjaro, labeled for the treatment of diabetes.
- Current pricing levels are buttressed by a system that unreasonably delays generic
 competition. Research has shown that brand-name GLP-1 manufacturers have obtained a
 median of 19.5 patents per GLP-1 receptor agonist and secured a median of 18.3 years of
 expected protection, with more than half of all patents obtained on the delivery devices
 rather than active ingredients.

ICER does not disavow the importance of considering long-term cost-effectiveness as the most appropriate foundation of fair pricing for innovative drugs. However, shorter-term budget impact and other considerations should always play a role in broader policy judgments, especially for products meant to serve such a large population of patients. Given the immense scale of potential use of GLP-1s, lower prices might not solve affordability concerns for all payers, but lower prices will remain an important element in the debate over potential solutions through both market actions and policy reforms.

Although much of the focus of this white paper will be on how to manage the costs of GLP-1 drugs and future OMs, it is very important not to lose sight of the reason this challenge is so important: the substantial health and quality of life benefits of these drugs. Even at modest levels of sustained weight loss, and over a relatively short time frame of 5 years, GLP-1s have demonstrated significant benefits to health and well-being in clinical trials. New FDA-approved indications have already expanded the list of formally designated areas of health improvement, and it is reasonable to assume that GLP-1 drugs could improve or reduce the risk for many health conditions related to obesity, such as diabetes, hypertension, heart failure, stroke, liver disease, and increased wear and tear on joints. Areas of uncertainty noted earlier should not be glossed over, ²⁶ but the opportunity presented by GLP-1 drugs to help individuals and to improve the nation's public health is palpable.

Table 1. Current GLP-1 Obesity Medications

Drug	Manufacturer	FDA Approval Indication(s)	FDA Approval Date	Annual List Price*	Annual Net Price**
Liraglutide (Saxenda®) GLP-1 Receptor Agonist Daily subcutaneous injection	Novo Nordisk	Adjunct to a reduced-calorie diet and increased physical activity for chronic weight management in: 1) Adult patients with an initial body mass index (BMI) of • 30 kg/m2 or greater (obese), or • 27 kg/m2 or greater (overweight) in the presence of at least one weight-related comorbid condition; 2) Pediatric patients aged 12 years and older with body weight above 60 kg and an initial BMI corresponding to 30 kg/m2 for adults (obese) by international cut-offs	12/23/14	\$16,188	\$9,191
Semaglutide (Wegovy®) GLP-1 Receptor Agonist Weekly subcutaneous injection	Novo Nordisk	GLP-1 receptor agonist indicated in combination with a reduced calorie diet and increased physical activity: •to reduce the risk of major adverse cardiovascular events in adults with established cardiovascular disease and either obesity or overweight • to reduce excess body weight and maintain weight reduction long term in: 1) Adults and pediatric patients aged 12 years and older with obesity; 2) Adults with overweight in the presence of at least one weight-related comorbid condition	6/4/21	\$16,188	\$7,401
Tirzepatide (Zepbound®) Combined GLP-1/GIP Receptor Agonist Weekly subcutaneous injection	Eli Lilly	GIP receptor and GLP-1 receptor agonist indicated as an adjunct to a reduced-calorie diet and increased physical activity for chronic weight management in indicated in combination with a reduced-calorie diet and increased physical activity: • to reduce excess body weight and maintain weight reduction long term in adults with obesity or adults with overweight in the presence of at least one weight-related comorbid condition. • to treat moderate to severe obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) in adults with obesity.		\$12,720	\$8,700

^{*}Sources: novopricing.com and pricinginfo.lilly.com

^{**} Net pricing data from SSR Health, Inc., obtained March 2025.

Compounded Versions of GLP-1 Drugs

Compounded drugs are intended to be custom-made medications produced by licensed pharmacists working from the active ingredients of an FDA-approved drug. These compounded versions are produced outside the control of the licensed drugmaker and are intended for use only when the specific dose or dosage form needed by an individual patient is not available or when the FDA determines that a drug is in short supply on a national basis. Once an approved drug is removed from the FDA's drug shortage list, compounded drugs may no longer be identical or nearly identical to the drug.

Throughout 2023 and much of 2024, despite efforts by manufacturers to ramp up production, both semaglutide and tirzepatide were deemed by the FDA to be in shortage due to unprecedented demand. During this time, the high demand for GLP-1 medications created a booming market for compounded versions, especially since many direct-to-consumer telehealth companies and medical spas and clinics have been able to sell compounded versions for a fraction of the price of their name-brand counterparts.^{27,28} Many telehealth companies ship compounded GLP-1 drugs after a quick questionnaire, with or without a tele-health clinician visit, with no lab work, lifestyle management, or in-person doctor visit required. One report estimated that as of October 2024 over 2 million Americans had received treatment with compounded versions of GLP-1 drugs.²⁹

The products offered by Weight Watchers, Him & Hers Health, and others have added new layers of complexity to the GLP-1 landscape. In our interviews we heard starkly contrasting views of the relative safety of compounded GLP-1 drugs, complicated by the fact that in addition to compounding that follows clear safety procedures there is a broad market of illicit compounding that puts patients at greatest risk. Legitimate compounding pharmacy organizations operate under strict federal and state standards. These organizations have highlighted that they conduct due diligence on every lot of compounded semaglutide or tirzepatide they buy or produce, upholding standards of purity, sterility, and consistency like those practiced in the commercial drug industry.²⁹ However, even in these situations, the raw materials used in the compounded forms differ from those produced for the brand manufacturers. ³⁰ Scientists have raised concerns about impurities leading to potentially harmful immune reactions. The FDA has made it clear that it does not recommend taking compounded versions of GLP-1 medications and has prominently shared its concerns over potential dosing errors and adverse effects brought about by inadequately controlled compounding processes.³¹ The American Diabetes Association and a variety of obesity advocacy organizations, representing both clinicians and patients, have also warned against taking compounded GLP-1 drugs, citing the lack of regulatory oversight of both compounded formulations and prescribers of compounded products. 32,33

Not surprisingly, Eli Lilly and Novo Nordisk have fiercely opposed the use of compounded versions of their drugs. Novo Nordisk reports high levels of adverse events attributed to improper compounding of semaglutide products, and the company has filed at least 21 lawsuits nationwide

against compounding companies.^{34,23} Recently, Eli Lilly issued "cease and desist" orders to providers who prescribed compounded versions of tirzepatide, and the company also asked patients who received compounded products to submit medical records for safety evaluation purposes.³⁵

The legal and regulatory landscape for compounding of GLP-1 drugs has shifted notably in recent months. The FDA removed tirzepatide from its shortage list in October 2024, and in a February 21, 2025 <u>declaratory order</u>, the agency did the same for semaglutide. These actions have heightened scrutiny of the appropriateness of producing and distributing compounded versions of semaglutide or tirzepatide. Nonetheless, litigation challenging these determinations was filed by the Outsourcing Facilities Association and others, and is still ongoing. Meanwhile, the FDA has said it will exercise <u>enforcement discretion</u> until May 2025 given the very large number of patients who may need to be switched over to approved brand drug formulations.

Although large-scale use of compounded versions of GLP-1s is likely to disappear given resolution of drug shortages, criticism from a wide variety of patient and clinical groups, and new direct-toconsumer offerings from brand drugmakers, the battles over whether compounded GLP-1 drugs should have any role in meeting patient demand seem far from over. In addition to ongoing litigation, we heard from one large integrated provider group that they are considering using a vetted compounding pharmacy and paying for testing of the product themselves to provide more affordable access to patients. As will be described later in this paper, virtual weight management companies have often woven compounded GLP-1 drugs into their overall approach to providing care at lower costs, and these firms have a significant financial incentive to keep using compounded versions whenever possible. Thus, it is not surprising that even after tirzepatide came off the shortage list, news reports found that some telehealth providers were still advertising and selling compounded versions. According to these reports, some companies believe that their tirzepatide products are legal without drug shortages given that these products include additives like glycine, niacinamide, and B vitamins, and are in doses different from those offered by Eli Lilly. 37 Litigation and ongoing evolution of access options and pricing will determine the extent to which compounding remains a significant feature of the GLP-1 landscape.

Pipeline of Future GLP-1 Obesity Medications and Pricing Implications

While Eli Lilly and Novo Nordisk are the only current manufacturers of GLP-1 based drugs, the financial success of these products has attracted significant interest and investment from other manufacturers. Companies are exploring various approaches, including novel molecules, combination therapies, therapies that retain lean muscle mass, and alternative delivery methods, to differentiate their products and address unmet needs in the treatment of diabetes, obesity, and other potential indications. Novo Nordisk and Eli Lilly themselves have seven new drugs under development for obesity.³⁸ Current estimates suggests that approximately 40 other manufacturers are in the process of developing GLP-1 drugs and that 16 new OMs are expected to be approved between 2026 to 2029.^{39,40} However, none of the potential new drugs other than those under

development by Novo Nordisk and Lilly had completed Phase 3 trials as of the time of a September 2024 Morningstar analysis, suggesting that price competition beyond that already occurring between semaglutide and tirzepatide may not occur for the next several years.³⁸

Table 2 on the following page provides an overview of the emerging pipeline of GLP-1 and other new OMs. Many of the drugs on this list have additional mechanisms of action that may help differentiate their effectiveness and/or side effect profile in the market. Also notable is the large number of emerging drugs that are delivered orally, a differentiating feature that may expand the number of patients willing to take new OMs. Figures not shown here but available in the Morningstar report display the known placebo-adjusted percentage weight loss over time across semaglutide, tirzepatide, and all of the emerging drugs with available data. These figures demonstrate that emerging injectable drugs have data largely comparable or superior to semaglutide and tirzepatide. Emerging oral options have current data suggesting they produce weight loss roughly comparable to semaglutide but modestly lower than tirzepatide.³⁸

Whether additional competition in future years will lead to substantial reductions in prices for OMs in the U.S. is hotly debated. For those who favor the view that competition is likely to drive lower prices, the recent downward trend in net prices for GLP-1 treatments for obesity provides the most persuasive evidence, and the earlier history of treatments for hepatitis C is often presented as a paradigmatic example. Sovaldi, the first of the newly effective anti-viral treatments for hepatitis C, was launched at a price of \$84,000 for a course of treatment. A year later saw the approval of a second drug, Viekira Pak, which entered the market with a slightly lower list price of approximately \$77,000. 41 With only two competing drugs available, competition rapidly ensued that drove net prices for both drugs down by approximately 50%, with insurers taking strong steps in many cases to cover only one favored option in order to obtain the lowest price from the manufacturer. Even with this level of price reduction, however, the high number of patients seeking treatment created financial barriers to care, particularly in resource constrained Medicaid programs and the VA. 42 Over several more years, additional new treatment options were approved and net prices fell further, with the net price of treatment courses dropping well below \$20,000 for Medicaid programs.⁴³ It is clear that the current GLP-1 medications will face a competitive onslaught in coming years. In addition, semaglutide has now been named to the list of drugs subject to a negotiated price for Medicare in 2027. 44 With the historical example of hepatitis C as a guide, it is therefore possible to argue that net prices for many or all new generation OMs are likely to see the same kind of substantial reduction over a relatively compressed time frame as was experienced with hepatitis C treatments.

Skeptics of this argument cite important differences in the context for treatments of hepatitis C and obesity. Hepatitis C treatments were short-term treatments that offered rapid cures for most patients. The new generation of hepatitis C treatments also had very small differences in safety and effectiveness, allowing payers to negotiate far lower prices by selecting single preferred agents, excluding other options. In contrast, the two existing GLP-1s approved for treatment of obesity

have differences in efficacy that some view as significant, while those in the pipeline may arrive boasting far lower rates of side effects, more convenience, added benefits, or all of these. Payers would likely have greater difficulty managing patients on long-term therapy who change insurers and are on a non-preferred, i.e. non-rebated product. For all these reasons, it is therefore possible that many payers will have difficulty limiting access to a single option, blunting the effects of head-to-head competition on prices.

Table 2. Comparing Obesity Incumbents to Challengers: Key Potential Differentiators*+‡

		Mechanism of Action									
							Completed		Small		
Firm	Drug	GLP-1	GIP	Glucagon	Amylin	CB1	Phase	Oral?	Molecule?	Efficacy	Tolerability
Incumbents: Approved	-										
Novo Nordisk	Wegovy	✓					3	No	No	Lagging	Solid
Eli Lilly	Zepbound	✓	✓				3	No	No	Solid	Solid
Incumbents: Next Generation											
Novo Nordisk	Rybelsus 50 mg	✓					3	Yes	No	Lagging	Solid
Novo Nordisk	cagrisema	✓			✓		1b	No	No	Leading	Solid
Novo Nordisk	oral amycretin	✓			✓		1	Yes	No	Leading^	Solid^
Novo Nordisk	monlunabant					✓	1	Yes	Yes	Leading^	Leading^
Eli Lilly	retatrutide	✓	✓	✓			2	No	No	Leading	Lagging
Eli Lilly	orforglipron	✓					2	Yes	Yes	Lagging	Lagging
Eli Lilly	mazdutide	✓		✓			3	No	No	Lagging	Solid
Challengers											
Viking	VK2735	✓	✓				2	Both*	No	Leading	Lagging
Boehringer Ingelheim/Zealand	survodutide	✓		✓			2	No	No	Lagging	Lagging
Structure Therapeutics	GSBR-1290	✓					2	Yes	Yes	Solid	Solid
Altimmune	pemvidutide	✓		✓			2	No	No	Lagging	Lagging
Pfizer	danuglipron^^	✓					2b	Yes	Yes	Lagging	Lagging
Roche (Carmot)	CT-388	✓	✓				1	No	No	Leading	Solid^
Roche (Carmot)	CT-996	✓					1	Yes	Yes	Leading	Solid^
Amgen	maritide**	✓	✓				1	No	No	Leading	Lagging
Zealand	petrelintide				✓		1	No	No	Solid	Leading

Source: Morningstar, company reports. Phase 3 data from Step 1 (Wegovy), Surmount 1 (Zepbound), and Oasis 1 (Rybelsus). *Data for VK2735 is for injectable version (oral data only available for four weeks in phase 1). **maritide is a GIP antagonist, other GIP-targeting drugs are agonists. ^Minimal published data to support drug's potential profile. ^^ Danuglipron data is for twice-daily dosing; new program is once-daily dosing.

Source: © 2025 Morningstar, Inc. All Rights Reserved. Reproduced with permission.

*NB. Wegovy, Rybelsus and Zepbound are mislabeled in this table. They are all small molecule treatments.

^{*}From: Morningstar Pitchbook. Obesity Drugs: The Next Wave of GLP-1 Competition. Morningstar Equity Research. September 2024. Available at: https://www.morningstar.com/lp/obesity-drug-market.

^{*© 2025} Morningstar, Inc. All Rights Reserved. The information contained herein: (1) is proprietary to Morningstar and/or its content providers; (2) may not be copied or distributed; (3) does not constitute investment advice offered by Morningstar; and (4) is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. Neither Morningstar nor its content providers are responsible for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information. Past performance is no guarantee of future results. Use of information from Morningstar does not necessarily constitute agreement by Morningstar, Inc. of any investment philosophy or strategy presented in this publication.

There are also alternative historical examples from which to draw the opposite lesson about the impact of competition on prices. ^{45,46} In particular, the pricing histories of branded treatments for HIV, for multiple sclerosis, and for rheumatoid arthritis and other autoimmune conditions, present counterexamples to the general lesson that competition rapidly leads to significant price reductions.

Arguments can therefore be made on both sides regarding the most likely impact of future competition on pricing for new OMs. Based on net pricing trends over the past two years, it seems reasonable to assume some degree of price moderation, but uncertainty about the timing and depth of price reductions complicates any assessment of the relative advantages of different market strategies and policies to help achieve broad, affordable access.

Current Coverage Patterns and Financial Impact of GLP-1s

Insurance Coverage

Coverage of new OMs by commercial insurers, state Medicaid programs, and Medicare varies widely and is evolving rapidly. While Medicare has been historically <u>prohibited</u> from covering drugs used for weight loss, Medicare Part D plans have been able to cover GLP-1s for their other FDA-approved <u>indications</u>, including the treatment of diabetes, reducing the risk of cardiac events in adults with obesity or who are overweight and have established cardiovascular disease (Wegovy), and to treat obstructive sleep apnea in adults with obesity (Zepbound). In its last few months, the Biden Administration formally proposed that Medicare and Medicaid provide coverage for weight loss medications starting in 2026, potentially expanding access to several million US seniors.⁴⁷ The implementation of this rule was left at the discretion of the incoming Trump Administration, which announced in early April 2025 that it would not be included in a <u>final update</u> to parts of Medicare's Part D drug benefits and Medicare Advantage. A spokeswoman for CMS said in an email to the New York Times that the agency believed that expanding coverage "is not appropriate at this time." But she <u>said</u> the agency had not ruled out coverage and "may consider future policy options" for the drugs.

State Medicaid programs are not required to provide coverage for weight loss medications, but 13 programs were providing coverage of GLP-1s for obesity as of October 2024, with additional programs expressing potential interest in expanding coverage in the near term. The majority of ACA marketplace plans cover GLP-1 drugs approved for diabetes, though a June 2024 <u>analysis</u> from KFF shows that fewer than 1% of plan formularies include drugs solely approved to treat obesity.

For commercial plans, coverage decisions are even more varied. One <u>survey</u> of employers by the Pharmaceutical Strategies Group (PSG), published in July 2024, found that 33% of health plans and employers were providing coverage for GLP-1 medications for obesity, while an additional 19% of respondents said they were considering coverage. An August 2024 <u>survey</u> from the Business Group

on Health, which surveyed 125 large businesses with a total of 17.1 million employees, found that 67% of these larger employers were covering GLP-1s as a treatment for obesity.

Benefit design consultants interviewed for this report suggested that the coverage trend during 2024 was a fluid mixture of some employers starting coverage for obesity treatments while others dropped coverage after experiencing heavier than anticipated utilization and higher costs. Using broad characterizations, benefit design consultants suggested that the purchaser groups most likely to provide coverage are labor unions due to their long history of advocating for broad coverage of health services without strict prior authorization. Next most likely to provide broad coverage of OMs have been employers in the financial services and technology industries who see recruitment and retention of top talent as their highest priority and who have greater financial resources to absorb growing costs of drug spending. In contrast, purchasers who have been least likely to include coverage of new OMs are firms in industries such as retail, hospitality, and restaurants, where rapid employee turnover and fewer resources combine to make coverage of OMs a lower priority.

Several commercial insurers and employer purchasers have announced decisions to rescind coverage of GLP-1 drugs for weight loss after having initially provided such coverage. At least 17 state employee health plans do cover the drugs for weight loss, according to the Leverage Obesity Coverage Nexus. But state employee health plans have been among the most visible purchasers to drop or reconsider coverage. News reports have highlighted Colorado, New Mexico, and Delaware as states with employee health plans reconsidering coverage in light of higher than anticipated costs, while West Virginia and North Carolina have already formally rescinded coverage.

One story of rescinded coverage that has been prominently covered in the media is that of the North Carolina state employee health plan, which covers approximately 750,000 public employees. The state plan decided in early 2024 to stop covering GLP-1 drugs because of concerns that costs could reach more than \$1 billion in total over the next six years, although whether this total reflected only incremental costs for obesity treatment or not is disputed. North Carolina initially wanted to save money by limiting prescriptions for semaglutide to patients who first tried lifestyle management programs to lose weight. However, the state health plan reported that they were told by their pharmacy benefit manager and by drug manufacturers that any narrowing of coverage would lead to the plan losing all of its rebates, a loss of a 40% discount.⁵² Whether the threat to eliminate rebates was driven primarily by the drugmaker or by the pharmacy benefit manager is in dispute, but our interviews with state officials made it clear that they felt trapped, with no options to use narrower coverage criteria to help make obesity coverage financially feasible. They also highlighted that their decision to rescind coverage was driven by their own experience with realworld use and cost outcomes. Costs for individuals on GLP-1s for obesity had risen unexpectedly over the near term even beyond increases due to GLP-1 drug costs. State health plan officials said that their own internal actuarial analyses suggested that at this cost trend they would need to double the insurance premium for employees to absorb the anticipated future costs, and managing this level of premium increase would be unaffordable for many state employees.

There has been a <u>public dispute</u> among political figures in North Carolina over the degree to which GLP-1 costs affected the state health plan above and beyond other cost drivers, but the financial jeopardy the plan was in was clear to all. Requests made by the plan to the state legislature to consider increasing its funding to help cover these costs were not successful, leading the plan to feel that their only option for the foreseeable future was to rescind all coverage for GLP-1 drugs to treat obesity. Novo Nordisk put out <u>a statement</u> criticizing North Carolina for having rejected "multiple, workable options" and suggesting that the PBM intermediary was a more likely barrier to agreeable coverage terms. Whether the state employee health plan will resume coverage at some point is unknown, but as a demonstration of how different payers face different constraints, in <u>August 2024</u> North Carolina Medicaid became one of the small number of Medicaid programs to decide to provide coverage for GLP-1s for obesity.

Financial Impact

Given the shifting tides of coverage, variable adherence, the rapid acceleration in the interest in GLP-1 drugs, and the substantial confidential rebates that are given by manufacturers for these drugs, it is difficult to estimate with any precision current uptake and net spending on new OMs from publicly available data. One JAMA publication in August 2024 found that prescriptions for semaglutide for all reasons nationally grew by 442% between January 2021 and December 2023.⁵³ Commercially insured patients received 61% of those prescriptions, while 28.5% went to Medicare Part D patients, and less than 10% to patients on Medicaid. Data from the drug manufacturers demonstrate substantial increases in revenue over several years. For example, for 2023, Novo Nordisk reported that Ozempic, Rybelsus and Wegovy had combined global sales of about \$21.1 billion, nearly two-thirds of the company's revenues that year, and 89% higher than just one year before. Over 70% of semaglutide revenues came from the U.S. market.⁵⁴ These figures do not include rebates paid back to payers and purchasers that may amount to more than 50% of gross sales. An analysis from KFF of newly released Medicare Part D spending data showed that total gross Medicare spending on Ozempic, Rybelsus, and Mounjaro has skyrocketed in recent years even without official coverage for use for obesity -- rising from \$57 million in 2018 to \$5.7 billion in 2022.55

Peer-reviewed evidence is currently lacking on the impact of increased GLP-1 use on pharmaceutical and overall costs of care. As noted earlier, the North Carolina state employee health plan reported that it would have needed to double its insurance premium to continue to pay for the increase in overall costs it experienced after initially providing GLP-1 coverage. Colorado's spending on OMs for state workers more than quadrupled from 2023 to 2024 — and costs have been doubling every six months. The large PBM Prime Therapeutics has reported that the average health care costs of commercially insured people with obesity in their system rose approximately \$7,000 in the first year after beginning GLP-1 use despite only one-third of patients being able to use the treatment consistently. No medical cost offsets were seen. Separately, Prime Therapeutics provided

examples of several self-insured employer clients offering coverage for GLP-1s for obesity, all of whom saw more than a ten-fold increase in per-member, per-month (PMPM) costs for GLP-1s from January 2023 to December 2024. And at a company level, a dramatic example of the cost impact of rising GLP-1 use came from Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts, which ended 2024 with a staggering \$400 million operating loss — its worst financial performance on record. The health plan cited GLP-1 drugs as the single largest driver of increased costs, accounting for more than \$300 million in 2024, 20% of the insurer's total pharmacy costs, and double the amount spent in the prior year.

Large swings in estimated costs also complicate efforts by purchasers and payers to plan financially for GLP-1 spending. For example, the California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS) notes that estimates of GLP-1 costs increased from \$3 per-member per-month, to \$20, and then to \$16. These fluctuating estimates hinder the ability of purchasers to adequately plan for the financial impact of GLP-1s. Despite not covering GLP-1s for obesity, overall CalPERS pharmaceutical spending increased by 25% between 2021 and 2023.⁵⁶

Not surprisingly, these kinds of unpredictable and rapid spikes in budget impact have led some purchasers and payers in the commercial market to rescind coverage in order to contain premium increases within manageable boundaries. In our interviews, one national health benefits consultant noted that an increasing number of employers they had spoken with were canceling coverage of GLP-1s for obesity after experiencing growth rates in overall health care costs even beyond that of the costs of GLP-1s. Some employers have noted increases in orthopedic procedures and pregnancy-related costs among patients treated with GLP-1s, presumably due to broader effects of successful weight loss. One report from another consultancy found that patients seeing their physicians in order to seek GLP-1 treatment were being diagnosed for the first time with new conditions, such as sleep apnea. Even though higher health care utilization secondary to increased visits to primary care and effective treatment for obesity often represents positive effects for individuals, higher utilization also drives up short-term costs, making it more difficult for many employers and other plan sponsors to estimate and manage the costs of providing coverage for GLP-1s.

Analysts have also had difficulty calculating a precise estimate of the financial impact for Medicare of extending coverage of GLP-1 drugs to obesity. One academic group estimated that expanding Medicare coverage could cost \$3 billion to \$6 billion. The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) estimated additional spending of \$24.9 billion over 10 years for Medicare, and \$14.8 billion for Medicaid, figures close to estimates from the Congressional Budget Office (CBO) of \$35 billion in additional federal spending over eight years. The CBO analyses assumed that 12.5 million Medicare beneficiaries would be eligible for obesity treatment with GLP-1s in 2026, but that only two percent would use the drugs in the first year. Under these assumptions, the analysis found that drug costs would increase, as expected, and that "[T]otal savings from beneficiaries' improved health would be small — less than \$50 million in 2026 and rising to \$1.0 billion in 2034." All efforts

to estimate the financial impact within Medicare and Medicaid of GLP-1 coverage for obesity are very sensitive to these underlying assumptions about uptake, persistence, and cost offsets, setting the stage for continued vigorous debate among policymakers.

Potential Market Strategies

As noted in the Introduction, the purpose of this white paper is to explore the range of market strategies and possible policy reforms that have the potential to help the broader U.S. health system achieve equitable and affordable access to GLP-1 OMs. Below, with perspectives informed by our interviews with key experts from different stakeholder groups, we analyze the relative advantages, limitations, and potential unintended consequences for each option. None of these market strategies or policy reforms can singlehandedly solve the underlying tension between the scale of the public health opportunity and the magnitude of the potential cost. Some strategies and policies will have very different implications in commercial, Medicare, and Medicaid insurance systems. We have sought to explore the balance between the idealized potential for some approaches and the very real political or health system barriers to their implementation. Ultimately, we seek to present industry leaders and policymakers with insights and lessons learned from experts while offering a menu of options for the future that will help all stakeholders play an active part in an innovative future of pricing, coverage, and payment for new OMs.

1. Temporary Coverage Denial

Some purchasers have estimated that they do not have the budgetary flexibility, or "elasticity," to provide coverage for GLP-1s for treatment of obesity at current prices. The same is true for certain lines of insurance within some insurers, including non-profit community health plans, whose profit margins are generally lower than larger for-profit national insurers. The story of the North Carolina state employee health plan, described earlier and also in greater detail in the call-out box on the following page, demonstrates how forecasted or experienced higher spending can be at a scale that would require increases in insurance premiums and/or budgetary cuts in other areas of health care spending that purchasers view as infeasible. With questions also swirling regarding whether patients are likely to persist with treatment long enough to accrue significant health benefits, it is not unreasonable for some purchasers to decide that they should wait to provide coverage.

We also heard in interviews that some purchasers are confident that, within another year or two, providers will be more efficient and effective, more will be known about how to maintain long-term use of all OMs, and competition may bring lower pricing. For purchasers with high employee turnover and limited resources, this perspective can provide a compelling argument for holding off on providing coverage until the landscape changes.

SWITCHING TO NON-COVERAGE: NORTH CAROLINA STATE EMPLOYEE HEALTH PLAN

An emblematic case of the tradeoffs with insurance coverage for OMs comes from the state of North Carolina (NC). The state employee plan provides coverage to nearly 750,000 public employees and retirees, while the Medicaid plan covers approximately 2.6 million individuals. The NC employee plan initially provided coverage for OMs and saw a rapid increase in use to approximately 25,000 individuals. This coverage cost the plan more than \$100 million, which is 10 percent of total prescription drug spending and more than the plan spent on cancer treatments. The plan estimated that continuing to cover OMs for obesity would increase spending by over \$1 billion. Such costs for a single treatment created challenging tradeoffs that were exacerbated by the plan's overall fiscal situation, and by the uncertainties remaining about long-term impacts of GLP-1 treatment of obesity on health care outcomes, utilization, and spending.

In response to these costs, the state employee health plan attempted several policies to reduce both price and utilization of OMs. To reduce prices, the plan attempted to directly purchase and negotiate the price of a GLP-1 drug from a single drugmaker. The state also attempted to narrow the set of patients using GLP-1 drugs and implement prior authorization programs. The state reported publicly that these efforts failed due to the threat to eliminate rebates on GLP-1 drugs if any policies were adopted that would narrow utilization. "The contracts between the manufacturers and the PBMs are all-or-nothing," said Sam Watts, administrator of the North Carolina State Health Plan. "I've got to take it or leave it. I have to pay for everybody, even the folks for whom it is not cost effective, in order to get it for the folks it would be cost-effective for."

In response to the lack of meaningful headway on reducing either GLP-1 price or utilization, the state employee health plan <u>decided</u> to entirely remove GLP-1 coverage for obesity starting in April 2024. Citing large differences in prices between the U.S. and peer nations, the employee health plan has <u>pushed for federal actions</u>, including calls for reducing GLP-1 prices through aggressive market intervention against current manufacturers. Novo Nordisk put out <u>a statement</u> criticizing North Carolina for having rejected "multiple, workable options" and suggesting that the PBM intermediary was a more likely barrier to agreeable coverage terms. Whether the state employee health plan will resume coverage at some point is unknown. Brad Briner, who became state treasurer in January 2025, <u>said</u> he hopes that the state's next PBM contract will allow more flexibility in coverage criteria, and that the state will be able to resume covering the drugs for at least some patients next year. As a demonstration of how different payers face different constraints, in <u>August 2024</u> North Carolina Medicaid became one of the small number of Medicaid programs to decide to provide coverage for GLP-1s for obesity.

There is one additional reason that non-coverage, on a broad scale, although it creates obvious access problems, may conversely support market options that can, with adequate scale, provide affordable access to GLP-1s outside of insurance. The past year has already shown that many individuals are able and willing to bear the cost of GLP-1 drugs outside of insurance, although much of that access was made possible through far less expensive, and less reliable, compounded versions. Today, there is already one company selling the idea that employers should exclude GLP-1s from their formal drug benefit while moving instead to subsidize employees who want to use cash-pay options. There are also recent efforts from the drugmakers themselves to work with telehealth clinicians in order to provide access to consumers outside of insurance. Lilly is the most advanced in this "pharm-to-table" model. Its LillyDirect program has been active for a year making Zepbound available for a cash price, offering patients access to telehealth and then connecting them into an online pharmacy. In February 2025 LillyDirect began offering a wider range of doses and brought prices down to approximately \$499 per month, far below the net price for many payers. In March 2025 Novo Nordisk joined in by launching NovoCare Pharmacy, which is offering a cash-only version of Wegovy at the same \$499 price per month.

Purchasers may see in this evolving market landscape options through which their employees or members can find affordable treatment outside of insurance, creating an ethical outlet for the access concerns created by non-coverage. But \$499 per month is not affordable for many people, and with obesity more common in people with lower financial resources, this price does nothing to reduce existing disparities in access that have serious equity implications. There is also an inescapable equity concern about requiring people with one particular medical condition to bear the financial burden alone when most costs of other conditions are covered by insurance. Therefore, although the current lack of coverage for millions of Americans may support less expensive options outside of insurance, equity considerations argue strongly against viewing non-coverage as an ethical long-term position.

Other arguments can also be made against even temporary non-coverage. Clinical trials have demonstrated relatively rapid reductions in cardiac events among patients with existing cardiac conditions after treatment initiation. As noted earlier, it is also reasonable to assume that annual costs for GLP-1 treatment drugs will come down, at least somewhat, over the next several years as new competitive entrants are approved and when semaglutide becomes subject to Medicare price negotiation. Financial forecasts figuring in some level of price reduction might change the perceived affordability of beginning coverage now for some purchasers. All purchasers should also take seriously their part in the broader societal goal of reducing disparities in access to effective treatments for obesity across socioeconomic and racial categories. Purchasers cannot be condemned if they are transparent in their justification of the financial barriers they face in offering GLP-1 coverage for obesity in the short term, but they should be vigilant in seeking opportunities to apply strategies such as those detailed in this paper to bring OMs within the normal range of insured services as soon as possible.

As detailed in the following section of this paper, payers have an important responsibility to use formulary design and price negotiation strategies through which purchasers may be able to afford coverage for GLP-1s for obesity. Drugmakers face a shared responsibility to help make GLP-1 coverage affordable for a wide range of purchasers. Drugmakers should exercise flexibility by granting full rebates to certain purchasers who feel that they can only manage the costs of providing coverage if it is restricted to patients who are more severely affected and at higher risk. In addition, drugmakers should take a long-range view of the revenues that they will accrue with these treatments and consider whether lowering prices further for certain purchasers would be more consistent with an enlightened view of their long-term social contract as organizations. Along with purchasers and payers, drugmakers therefore carry a shared responsibility to advance pricing and coverage terms that will get GLP-1 drugs to people who can benefit at a price that rewards innovation but that allows for a sustainable, affordable health insurance system for all.

2. Enhanced Prior Authorization and Formulary Management

For purchasers and insurers seeking to develop an affordable approach to coverage for expensive drugs, it is common to apply enhanced utilization and formulary management to ensure that coverage is framed along evidence-based lines that may narrow use to those patients for whom the benefits of treatment are best established. Although the current GLP-1 landscape has given drugmakers significant leverage to use rebates to avoid limited coverage terms, given the substantial aggregate costs of GLP-1 drugs, along with uncertainties about longer-term adherence and outcomes, purchasers and payers have explored a variety of coverage policy approaches to target treatment to a narrower set of patients. Any evidence-based approach to narrowing coverage may help patients by avoiding use where the safety and benefits of treatment are less well known. Patients and all health plan members also benefit from measures that help keep insurance premiums more affordable. But the risks of targeting coverage are that some patients who merit treatment will face delays or other barriers to effective care. In a previous white paper for the Policy Leadership Forum, ICER addressed this tension by developing guidelines for appropriate use of prior authorization and step therapy. 58 Working from this framework, we analyze the role of various options potentially available to purchasers to manage GLP-1 benefits below, and in Table 3 we present a summary of some of the key potential advantages and limitations of each strategy.

Coverage Criteria

BMI and clinical comorbidities. Specifying clinical criteria for coverage through a prior authorization process is a common approach within insurance policies to assure that only appropriate patients receive the treatment. When the FDA label includes generalized terms, or when the underlying clinical evidence comes from a narrower spectrum of the condition, insurers

can consider whether to construct coverage policies with more precise evidence-based criteria based on clinical guidelines or clinical trial eligibility criteria.

When semaglutide and tirzepatide were first approved for the treatment of obesity, their FDA labels included a specific BMI threshold of 30, or of 27 among patients with an obesity-related comorbidity. Subsequently, in part because of concern that specific BMI thresholds might not be appropriate for different races and ethnicities, the FDA updated its labels in March 2024 for semaglutide and in October 2024 for tirzepatide to remove any mention of BMI thresholds, leaving the approval for both drugs as for the treatment of "adults with obesity or adults with overweight in the presence of at least one weight-related comorbid condition."

Given the broad language in the updated FDA labels, purchasers and payers seeking to create a more affordable coverage policy can consider adding clinical eligibility criteria that will narrow the eligible pool of patients. Even before the labels were made less specific, ICER and other analysts had noted that most patients treated in the pivotal trials for both drugs had a BMI >35 and at least one weight-related comorbid condition. Some insurers and purchasers therefore have decided to use BMI \geq 35 in their coverage criteria, ^{61,62} and some have also included a requirement for one or more co-morbid conditions, such as hypertension. For example, Blue Cross Blue Shield (BCBS) of Michigan recently raised BMI coverage thresholds to 35, and, for some plan members, Blue Shield of California recently changed its coverage to require a BMI of \geq 40 unless there are cardiac comorbidities. ^{51,63} Overseas, at least one national health system, the National Health Service (NHS) in England, has done the same in its funding decision for semaglutide, ⁶⁴ whereas for its planned initial phase of the rollout of funding for tirzepatide it has selected the even more restrictive level of BMI \geq 40 plus three cardiac comorbidities. ⁶⁵

Using more restrictive BMI and comorbidity thresholds for coverage can be seen as a principled, evidence-based approach to targeting coverage to those individuals at highest risk for short-term adverse events and who therefore stand to benefit most from treatment. However, there are several important limitations. First, as GLP-1 drugs obtain new indications for patients with obesity, such as the treatment of obstructive sleep apnea and reducing the of risk of cardiac adverse events in adults with established cardiovascular disease, using BMI thresholds to narrow use will become less feasible. In addition, coverage criteria narrower than the FDA label language can be criticized by clinicians and patients as being inappropriately restrictive. For example, BMI, the main patient characteristic being used for limiting coverage eligibility, is an imperfect measure of obesity-related health risks. ⁶⁶ Furthermore, as noted earlier, attempts to apply coverage criteria that limit eligibility are likely to be met with resistance from drugmakers and perhaps even from some payers whose revenues are tied to rebates. If more coverage criteria are countered by reduced rebates, the overall effect may not improve affordability.

Additional clinical or genetic factors. The intense competition among weight management carveout companies has led to the application of additional, often proprietary measures to help craft "personalized" weight management programs. As <u>one company</u> suggests, they will use screening tools to "develop your personalized weight loss plan based on your goals, preferences, and unique biology." In our interviews with benefit design consultants and purchasers, we were told that these screening tools are often presented as a way to help patients achieve their goals while narrowing the number of patients started directly on GLP-1s. Psychological screening tests and even <u>genetic screening tests</u> are being touted as helping to improve the matching of patients with their ideal weight management approach. No well-conducted studies of these screening techniques have been published.

Lifestyle management. The FDA labels for semaglutide, tirzepatide, and all former OMs stipulate that they are approved for treatment "in combination with a reduced calorie diet and increased physical activity." The pivotal trials of GLP-1 drugs for obesity do not demonstrate a major difference in the magnitude of weight loss depending on the degree to which patients followed diet and exercise guidance, but exercise is an important complement to GLP-1 use, particularly among the elderly, because of the potential for muscle-wasting and bone mineral density side effects. It is therefore very reasonable for purchasers to include in coverage policy some form of requirement that patients engage with a lifestyle management program. Doing so can be seen as ensuring that patients are fully committed to a broader approach to weight loss than may help them sustain benefits of drug treatment.

There are two key questions regarding the inclusion of lifestyle management requirements within coverage policies. The first is whether lifestyle management is set up as a preliminary requirement that patients must complete prior to beginning GLP-1 treatment. This approach makes lifestyle management a first step in "step therapy," a coverage policy approach that requires that patients try a less expensive first-line therapy and demonstrate lack of adequate benefit before moving on to receive coverage for other treatments.⁵⁸

Although requiring a formal course of lifestyle management before allowing GLP-1 coverage would narrow the population receiving GLP-1 drugs, this approach ignores the reality that most people living with obesity have already tried multiple diet and exercise programs before considering drug therapy. Setting yet another attempt at lifestyle management as a first step would likely only delay treatment unnecessarily for most patients, potentially driving up overall costs of a broader approach to weight loss. Requiring that patients participate in a lifestyle management program during treatment with GLP-1 drugs is more likely to serve the needs of patients and maximize the longer-term benefits that purchasers also seek.

The second key question regarding lifestyle management is which version to use in clinical practice and coverage policy. A comparison of all the various forms of lifestyle management is beyond the scope of this paper. Nearly all include ways to encourage increased physical activity and seek to modify patients' diets. Some programs apply principles of psychology of change and other techniques to weave mental health into a broader approach to long term weight loss. Some

programs involve in-person counselling, some use virtual counselling, and many today rely on online programs that do not require any personal interaction at all. In addition to addressing overall wellbeing, in interviews with purchasers and benefit design consultants, we heard that lifestyle management programs are being presented by many providers as a way to allow patients to eventually taper down on GLP-1 dosing or even shift entirely off medication after reaching target weight. A recent media report of company presentations at the 2025 J.P. Morgan Health Care conference highlighted lifestyle management companies touting positive results after tapering patients off of GLP-1 medicines. For example, a company that launched in 2019, Calibrate, recently released data showing that 42 patients maintained weight loss (average 22%) a year after ending GLP-1 use. The number of patients involved in these reports is very small, and many aspects of their outcomes after tapering off GLP-1s remain unknown, but interest in exploring this approach, should further evidence demonstrate its effectiveness, is high across purchasers and payers we interviewed.

Duration of coverage. Although our interviews did not suggest that any purchaser or payer has formally restricted the duration of coverage, this approach has been suggested by academics in the U.S. and has been implemented by the NHS in England. ^{64,67} The general idea is to set either a weight target or a time target, after which patients would be expected to move off GLP-1s to a weight loss regimen using either less expensive options or purely based on lifestyle management. In England, in addition to instituting higher BMI thresholds, funding for semaglutide for each individual patient was set with a two-year cap. **Data from clinical trials** suggest that patients stopping GLP-1 treatment often regain much or all of the weight they had lost, but in conversations with officials in England, they said that their own experience with patients in specialist weight loss clinics suggested that many were able to maintain weight loss without the use of OMs after they had lost weight and had the benefit of two years of intensive lifestyle management counselling. However, data are still very sparse on the outcomes of reducing or stopping GLP-1 treatment after reaching target weight. One early study finds that after GLP-1 withdrawal, patients on average re-gained two-thirds of lost weight, suggesting that maintenance of health benefits with GLP-1s may require long-term, even lifetime use. ⁶⁸

Clinical experts and others we interviewed in the U.S. expressed keen interest in a time-limited approach to GLP-1 treatment, but only if well-conducted clinical trials were first to establish the effectiveness of this approach. Both purchasers and patient advocates expressed concern that the clinical evidence is currently not robust enough to know whether patients would re-gain weight or lose any cardiovascular risk benefit after coverage expiration. Purchasers who had contracted with weight loss management companies said that these companies explicitly mentioned the prospect of moving people off GLP-1 treatment over the course of time, but without firm evidence backing this approach, there was no support for formal caps on the duration of coverage.

Formulary Management

Covering only a single GLP-1 drug. As part of a comprehensive approach to coverage, purchasers and insurers can consider various formulary management approaches to seek lower prices for GLP-1 drugs and lower costs for overall medication management of weight loss. When supported by the clinical evidence, payers routinely seek to negotiate lower prices for brand drugs by offering preferential placement in the formulary that is linked to lower cost sharing for patients and/or less requirement for step therapy through less expensive treatment options. In cases where two or more drugs are considered functionally equivalent in their safety and effectiveness, payers can also consider negotiating to cover only one drug in a particular class, excluding others in a search for the deepest price concessions from a single drugmaker.

Up until recently, the shortage of GLP-1s across markets in the U.S. has made it impossible for payers to consider covering only semaglutide or tirzepatide. It has been very difficult for clinicians and patients to find an adequate and consistent supply of either drug, so in our interviews with payers we heard that this approach would be considered only after supplies improved. However, the potential benefit of single-drug coverage of GLP-1s is the ability to negotiate a significantly lower price. We are aware of a single example of single-drug coverage in the current market. The Massachusetts state Medicaid program, MassHealth, has decided to prefer a single obesity GLP-1 drug, and has made it clear to manufacturers that the preferred product will change, if necessary, to secure the best value to the Commonwealth.

There are no publicly available data on the outcomes of patients who switch from one GLP-1 drug to another. Another concern about this approach is that it will require switching patients from one treatment to another to retain rebates. It is rarely easy to administer a switching process, and it may be even more difficult in commercial insurance, where new health plan members may have more flexibility to shift plans, and providers have more robust exception procedures. In addition, even with formal shortages ending, patients and clinicians may also struggle to find adequate supply. Single-drug coverage could force patients onto non-rebated drugs if the covered drug is not available. Nonetheless, for Medicaid programs and other payers who feel they are unable to provide coverage without further price reductions, single-drug coverage offers one approach that may help meet budgetary targets.

Step therapy through earlier OMs. Prior to the advent of GLP-1 drugs, obesity specialists had become skilled in helping many people reach their weight loss goals with a combination of lifestyle management and tailored use of earlier OMs. Today, it is widely accepted that GLP-1 drugs provide greater average weight loss and have equal or lower rates of side effects than earlier options. In our discussions with clinical experts, they confirmed that it is clinically reasonable to start many patients on drugs other than GLP-1s, especially when the weight loss goals are relatively modest. We also heard from purchaser consultants that many, if not most, independent weight loss management companies use their clinical networks of obesity specialists to apply this approach, often leading to

more than 50% of patients using no medication or less-expensive earlier OMs. For example, the state employee health plan of the state of Connecticut contracts with Flyte for its weight management program. Early results presented in March 2024 showed that 50% of participants were prescribed an OM other than a GLP-1 drug. Patients prescribed non-GLP-1 options lost an average of 5% of baseline weight, and it is unknown what proportion of patients met their weight loss goals. Further evidence is needed on the clinical outcomes of step therapy approaches, but cost savings from helping patients reach weight loss goals without using brand GLP-1s can be significant and is one of the primary ways that weight loss specialty companies are creating savings for purchasers.

The downsides of step therapy are well known.⁵⁸ As ICER documented in its <u>earlier report</u> on fair access, patients may be frustrated and feel they are being offered second-class care. For those patients who do not obtain desired outcomes, delay receiving the treatment that is ultimately needed may increase the risk of unnecessary side effects and may, in some cases, lead to higher overall costs. And there are not enough obesity specialists in the U.S. with experience with earlier OMs to come close to matching the size of the population eligible for GLP-1 drugs. But if patients are in a system in which they are receiving excellent, personalized care from a clinician who can guide the selection of appropriate earlier OMs for suitable patients, and manage those patients closely so that they can be switched to a GLP-1 drug without significant delay if needed, a step therapy approach may offer important advantages for purchasers seeking a more affordable way to provide broad coverage for their employees/members.

Table 3: Strategies to Manage Appropriate Use and Costs of Obesity Medications Through Enhanced Prior Authorization and Formulary Management

Strategy	Benefits	Disadvantages				
	Direct limited financial resources to patients with the greatest need	Higher thresholds for BMI can be viewed as arbitrary				
Narrow coverage through BMI and clinical comorbidity restrictions	FDA label updates give greater latitude for purchasers and payers to define BMI thresholds	Restrictions beyond FDA label language may lead to loss of rebates, negating the financial goal of narrowing coverage				
	Other payers and nations have set examples of narrowing coverage using BMI ≥ 35 or even BMI ≥ 40, with cardiac comorbidities	With expanding indications beyond obesity, may be difficult to reduce budget impact significantly				
Require lifestyle	Create a more holistic care plan for patients that may be more sustainable and cost-effective than medication	Most patients have tried lifestyle interventions without success				
management as a prerequisite or concomitant part of medication treatment	management alone	These programs often lack any evidence				
	May help some patients reduce dosages or discontinue GLP-1s	that they enhance weight loss beyond that gained with medication management				
	Limit financial impact on purchasers	Rigorous evidence not available on				
Limit duration of coverage for	Anecdotal experience in England and	patient outcomes with mandatory discontinuation of GLP-1s				
GLP-1 treatment	claims by obesity management companies suggest that some patients can maintain weight loss after discontinuing GLP-1s	Risk of alienating patients, losing clinical benefits of sustained weight loss, and ultimately restarting GLP-1 treatment				
Step therapy through non- GLP-1 obesity medications	Evidence suggests some patients can meet weight targets with less expensive medications	Earlier obesity medications are believed to have higher rates of GI and other side effects				
	If structured appropriately, patients can quickly shift to GLP-1s if first line drugs are inadequate	Patients and clinicians are highly motivated to use GLP-1s				
Negotiate lower prices by covering only a single GLP-1 drug	Weight loss and side effect differences	No evidence on outcomes of switching between GLP-1 drugs				
	between current GLP-1 drugs not viewed as requiring coverage of both drugs on clinical grounds	Burden of switching GLP-1 drugs may create pushback or loss of rebates for patients granted an exception				

3. Provider Network Management

Managing the network of clinical providers engaged in managing obesity and prescribing OMs is an important element in seeking to improve outcomes while controlling costs. There are three basic approaches for purchasers and insurers to consider:

Open prescribing with attendant tighter utilization management. One option is to allow all primary care providers to prescribe GLP-1 drugs as part of their practice. This approach maximizes access to the most effective obesity treatment, thereby likely reducing disparities in access across socioeconomic, racial, and other categories. In addition, integrating GLP-1 prescribing into primary care helps keep medication use coordinated across other clinical conditions, such as diabetes and hypertension. If rapid weight loss is achieved, other medications may need to be adjusted accordingly.

The drawbacks of open prescribing begin with the likelihood that a certain proportion of GLP-1 drugs will be prescribed for patients who could do well with other, less expensive OMs. Combining open prescribing with tight utilization management criteria is one way to try to provide wide access without producing high rates of inappropriate use. In our interviews with clinical experts and others, they argued that most primary care clinicians are not yet expert in prescribing the broad range of earlier OMs as well as GLP-1s, nor are they versed in working with lifestyle management options and psychological support often needed for optimal care. Clinical guidelines integrating all these features of care have not been widely disseminated in primary care. With this backdrop, some experts and purchasers believe that keeping prescribing limited to a narrower network of obesity specialists was a better approach for the short-term until clinical expertise in obesity medicine could be more widely embedded in primary care. In contrast, we heard from other experts that they believe that the extensive experience primary care physicians have had prescribing GLP-1s for diabetes over the previous 20 years makes them well-suited to prescribe the drugs for obesity management.

Limited prescribing by a curated expert network with lighter or no utilization management.

This approach has the opposite advantages and drawbacks of an open prescribing model. Setting up a "Centers of Excellence" approach to obesity medication prescribing maximizes the likelihood of appropriate comprehensive care for patients with obesity, including the use of GLP-1 drugs. Even in the broadest clinician networks, however, there are nowhere near enough obesity specialists to manage the number of people seeking GLP-1 treatment. Long waiting lists would result. On the other hand, a curated group of obesity specialists could be allowed to prescribe GLP-1 drugs with light or no prior authorization and other elements of utilization management. How these contrasting benefits and disadvantages balance out could be very different across varying health systems.

Carve-out clinical care and prescribing to external weight loss management firm. Instead of trying to cobble together an internal set of obesity specialists into a network of Centers of Excellence, many purchasers and health systems are currently "carving out" the care for obesity to external obesity management companies. There are many dozens of these companies now competing for the obesity care market, largely based on PMPM contracts with self-insured purchasers and insurers. Some of the largest PBMs have organized their own obesity carve-out programs for clients, including Evernorth's EncircleRxSM, and CVS Caremark's program to Transform Metabolic Health. We will discuss independent obesity carve-out companies later in this paper.

One element in common across all these carve-out programs is that they offer a curated obesity expert network. These providers generally have virtual visits with patients, offering greater convenience and more rapid access. Some clinical experts and purchasers expressed concern, however, that some of these "experts" do not have true clinical experience with obesity and are included in these virtual networks after receiving minimum training. As noted earlier, some of these programs seek to start many patients on less expensive medications, increasing the importance that clinicians be adequately skilled to provide appropriate, tailored individual care.

4. Innovative Payment Arrangements

As noted earlier, some purchasers may consider temporary non-coverage of GLP-1 drugs for obesity as their only financially prudent option at current pricing. Some half-way measures can be considered to help individuals afford treatment, such as separate employer subsidization of GLP-1 drug costs through an outside vendor. But both payers and drugmakers should be open to the possibility that innovative payment arrangements could help manage the tension between short-term costs and the longer-term value of treatment with GLP-1s. Several options can be considered, but there are many factors in the current GLP-1 landscape that create barriers to innovative approaches.

Performance agreements. It is appealing to think of designing payment for GLP-1 drugs to provide a warranty or deeper rebates when patients are not able to achieve their desired weight loss. Agreements could be written to link rebates to achieving a desired weight goal, to a particular percentage weight loss target, or to adherence to treatment. However, there are many reasons that patients might not reach their goal, whether from lack of drug availability, ineffectiveness of the drug, side effects, or financial barriers. In the current landscape, with demand exceeding the supply of medication, drugmakers have little incentive to even consider any form of performance agreement. However, when further new OMs enter the market there may be adequate supply and competition to drive some drugmakers to be open to considering performance-based agreements linked to clinical outcomes.

In the short term, we heard in interviews that even carve-out obesity management companies are not commonly offering performance-based guarantees. Purchasers are also wary that performance-

based agreements with carve-out companies could be "gamed" given that weight measurement is commonly done virtually (i.e. in the patient's home) and cannot be verified. However, as opposed to clinical performance agreements, we heard in interviews that many carve-out companies are offering financial guarantees on the total cost of care. Documents from some carve-out companies claim a 3-to-1 return on investment, but we were unable to determine specific contractual financial guarantees being offered in the marketplace.

Performance agreements sometimes include aligned patient incentives to maintain adherence or to achieve particular clinical goals. With GLP-1s, however, outside the question of drug availability, adherence is likely driven far more by the tolerability of side effects than any other factor. On the other hand, neither purchasers, payers, nor drugmakers want people taking GLP-1s to cycle on and off them in a fashion that may undercut any long-term health benefits. Still, stakeholders at the Policy Leadership Forum expressed little interest in pursuing the idea of creating a financial incentive for patients to adhere to a GLP-1 therapy.

Subscription models. A subscription model for drug coverage is a payment arrangement between a payer and a drug manufacturer that involves a fixed amount paid in exchange for access to a specific drug or drugs for a specific patient population over a set period of time. ⁶⁹ These models guarantee financial certainty for purchasers, but also guarantee recurring revenue for manufacturers. We heard in interviews that some large purchasers had explored a subscription model in discussions with drugmakers, but there was little interest given the current supply/demand context and the acknowledged administrative burden of setting up a subscription model. Moreover, the prospect in coming years of lower prices with additional competition and/or governmental price negotiation removes part of the incentive for a subscription model for purchasers. Equally, for GLP-1 drugmakers, it is not clear that subscription models offer any advantages and may not be a feasible consideration for drugs that must be taken for many years, if not a lifetime.

Volume-based rebates. Volume-based rebate agreements set one or more thresholds of utilization such that greater use of a drug results in greater rebates to the payer. These arrangements help give some sense of financial protection to payers and are often used when there is substantial uncertainty about the uptake of a new drug within a population. GLP-1 volume-based rebates could also be framed as per-member per-month payment caps to help give more budgetary certainty to purchasers and payers.

In our interviews we did not hear of any volume-based agreements in the market today. The administrative burdens of these agreements are relatively low, but, as noted, the GLP-1 drugmakers are in a strong position in negotiating coverage terms given the balance of supply and demand of their products, and so it is not surprising that no volume-based agreements have been struck to date. Another reason that these agreements are challenging in the U.S. context is the linkage of any rebate in the commercial market to the requirement for drugmakers to offer their "best price" for

any customer to all state Medicaid programs under the Medicaid Best Price statute.⁷⁰ Nonetheless, as with other market strategies, if greater competition ensues in coming years with the approval of additional OMs, purchasers and payers may find more openness to consideration of volume-based rebate agreements.

5. Carve-out Programs for Obesity Management Services

This paper has already described that many purchasers and payers are delegating obesity management to a comprehensive program offered by a PBM or to an independent obesity management company. One purchaser that has contracted with this type of "carve-out" program is the state employee health plan for the state of Connecticut (see call-out box). These carve-out programs come in many different flavors, and, unfortunately, there are no publicly available data with which to assess which programs, or which elements of programs, are more effective than others. Nonetheless, there are many common features of these programs, and, in our interviews, we heard of several important best practices that all purchasers and payers should be aware of when considering whether to adopt this approach to obesity care.

CARVE-OUT OBESITY MANAGEMENT PROGRAM:

While the North Carolina state employee health plan found it impossible to achieve affordable coverage of GLP-1s, other states have had more success. A notable example comes from the Connecticut state employee plan, which provides benefits for over 180,000 individuals. Connecticut paired GLP-1 coverage with engagement with an obesity management carve-out company, Flyte Health. Like many obesity management programs, Flyte combines GLP-1 coverage with lifestyle management programs. Flyte also uses clinical criteria to narrow the set of patients who take GLP-1s and attempts to ensure appropriate GLP-1 use.

In initial non-peer-reviewed findings on a small number of patients after launch, Connecticut has <u>reported</u> meaningful reductions in weight loss among participants. Among patients enrolled in Flyte for at least six months, weight decreased by an average of 10 percent overall. Approximately 50% of patients were prescribed an OM other than a GLP-1 drug. Average weight loss was 12% on patients treated with GLP-1s and 4% among others, although it is unknown what proportion of patients met their weight loss goal across groups. Overall, in addition to weight loss, Flyte also reported improvements in other clinical metrics, including blood pressure.

The common elements of obesity carve-out programs are:

- 1. National network of clinical experts who engage with patients virtually
- 2. Clinical algorithms that help identify patients for whom less expensive treatment options are appropriate
- 3. Integration of interventions on diet and activity as part of lifestyle management
- 4. PMPM payment model, often with <u>guarantees</u> on adherence to medication use and overall cost reductions

In addition, we heard in interviews with benefit design consultants and purchasers that many, if not most obesity carve-out companies have been using compounded versions of GLP-1 drugs as another way to achieve lower overall costs of care.

As noted earlier, some clinical experts and purchasers believe that carve-out companies are the best option because the primary care provider community is not yet prepared to handle obesity care, and carve-out companies can bring not only clinical expertise but a more comprehensive approach to ensuring that all patients receive individualized care, including appropriate lifestyle management interventions. For example, we heard from one purchaser that they work with the company FORM, which determines the most appropriate care for an individual using a staging model based on clinical comorbidities and psychologically validated "readiness to change" criteria. To our knowledge, there are no data available from a rigorous trial of this or other components of carve-out programs, but they reflect years of experience working with patients with obesity and other chronic conditions.

There are several important potential drawbacks of carve-out programs depending on how they are structured. One challenge is the distribution of rebate dollars. If obesity management is fully carved out, then rebates from GLP-1 manufacturers in many cases go directly to the carve-out program and not to the purchaser. Purchasers should therefore consider setting up an agreement with their carve-out partner to share the rebates. Carving out obesity care also runs the risk of creating a lack of coordination with the care for other conditions. It is essential that carve-out programs have a formal mechanism for communicating with primary care clinicians so that all medications and other facets of care can be clearly understood by all clinicians caring for the patient.

Another potential concern, noted earlier, is that carve-out programs may not offer clinicians who are truly qualified to serve as obesity specialists. We heard in interviews that some carve-out obesity companies have been found to qualify their "experts" through a one-time seminar and then give them a script to use in their interactions with patients. Purchasers should examine whether clinicians have formal credentials from the American Board of Obesity Medicine or other relevant training.

Since most carve-out programs use earlier OMs as well as GLP-1 drugs, clinical experts interviewed suggested that purchasers should ensure that any step therapy approach uses a reasonable 3 to 4 month period to determine whether less expensive options are working adequately before allowing patients to begin GLP-1 treatment. Some carve-out companies use a six-month trial period, but clinical experts advised that this was far longer than necessary to determine whether less expensive OMs would be effective for an individual patient.

In addition, given that many carve-out companies have been using compounded versions of GLP-1 drugs, purchasers should enquire carefully about the source and quality assurance of these medications. There is a checklist for compounded GLP-1 drugs disseminated by the Obesity Medicine Association that serves as a good benchmark. Purchasers should also assure that carve-out companies are also able to incorporate brand GLP-1 drugs from the innovator companies should there be any question about the appropriateness of using compounded drugs. Many purchasers will opt to avoid any use of compounded versions of GLP-1 drugs in concert with leading clinical experts.

A final challenge with these programs is their wide variability in efficacy and transparency into outcomes. Due to patient self-selection, access to data, and transparency of approaches, evaluating these programs is challenging. There currently is not a rigorous evaluation of these programs, making them difficult to compare. This evidence limitation is particularly relevant for expanded use of carve-out programs. Expanded use of carve-put programs will likely require Medicare and other purchasers to design criteria for covering lifestyle management programs and ensuring adequate quality of these programs.

Potential Federal Policy Interventions

In addition to the potential market actions that purchasers, payers, and drugmakers can implement, there are also potential policy reforms that the federal government could enact to address access to GLP-1 medications and the overall costs of obesity treatment. As with market actions, no single policy reform alone can solve the short-term tension between the opportunities GLP-1 drugs offer to improve health on a broad scale and the challenges of managing the corresponding high costs.

1. Improve Access by Offering Coverage for Obesity Drugs in Medicare

For more than two decades, federal law has prevented Medicare from providing coverage for drugs that treat obesity. For almost as long, advocates and some legislators have sought without success to change that by advancing a bill known as the Treat and Reduce Obesity Act (TROA). The recognition of obesity as a chronic disease in 2013 and advent of GLP-1 drugs has completely changed this dynamic. GLP-1s have accelerated interest in opening up coverage for obesity

medications in Medicare, while also stimulating questions about the financial impact on the program. As noted earlier, in November 2024, shortly after the federal election, the Biden Administration proposed expanding Medicare and Medicaid coverage to GLP-1s for people with obesity, but the Trump Administration decided in April 2025 not to move forward with expanded coverage, although statements suggested that CMS had not ruled out considering future options for expanded coverage.

Increased use of GLP-1s within Medicare for patients with diabetes has already increased dramatically in recent years. Total Medicare Part D gross spending (before rebates) on GLP-1s increased from \$57 million in 2018 to \$5.7 billion in 2022. Following expanded FDA labeling, Medicare also announced in 2024 that it would expand coverage for GLP-1 drugs for patients with obesity but without diabetes who are at higher risk of heart attack, stroke or other serious cardiovascular problems (semaglutide) or obstructive sleep apnea (tirzepatide).

As discussed above, both CMS and the CBO have estimated substantial budgetary impacts if Medicare begins coverage of obesity medications. <u>CMS estimated</u> an additional \$24.88 billion over 10 years, whereas CBO estimated that authorizing coverage of obesity medications in Medicare would increase federal spending by approximately \$35 billion from 2026 to 2034.

Months before the Biden Administration announcement of its proposal to cover GLP-1s for obesity, federal policymakers were searching for a way to extend coverage without this scale of added costs. On June 27, 2024, the House Ways and Means Committee voted to approve an amended version of the TROA and send it to the full House. This revised <u>version</u> of the TROA would limit coverage to people who had been taking an OM for a year prior to enrolling in Medicare.

The idea of limiting coverage for OMs to only those patients already taking them at entry into Medicare helps address worries over the potential financial impact, and also would eliminate the problem of having patients with successful weight loss on treatment suddenly face high out of pocket costs that may not be affordable, leading them to stop treatment, regain weight, and increase their risks for adverse health outcomes. On the other hand, letting new entrants to Medicare get OM coverage while those already in the program cannot raises important equity considerations within the Medicare program. Some legislators have already indicated that they view other measures to bring down the prices of OMs to be better policy approaches to allowing Medicare to cover OMs in a financially prudent manner. The Trump Administration now gains the responsibility of deciding if and how to move forward.

CMS received <u>nearly 25,000 comments</u> on the Biden administration proposal for extending coverage for obesity medication, many from individuals describing their own positive experiences with the drugs and urging policymakers to expand coverage. In comment letters submitted by health insurers, however, <u>they warned</u> that CMS could be facing lawsuits if it moves ahead to reinterpret the statute on obesity medications. Other concerns about GLP-1s have been raised by

members of the Trump Administration themselves. In particular, the new Secretary of Health and Human Services, Robert F. Kennedy, Jr, has been <u>on record</u> in the past criticizing the use of GLP-1s, saying that changes to diet and lifestyle should be preferred, and that the interest in GLP-1s reflects America's obsession with drug treatment.

Now that the Trump Administration has decided not to move forward with the Biden proposal at this time, it is unclear which mechanisms may be considered in the future to expand coverage in other ways. One possibility would be to expand coverage through an evaluation managed by the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Innovation (CMMI). The CMMI would likely not have the authority to create its own version of narrower clinical eligibility criteria, but in principle it could design a model in which expanded coverage is linked to evaluation of longer-term clinical and economic outcomes, or to evaluation of combinations of drug treatment with different versions of lifestyle management. The advantage of expanding coverage through some form of evaluation model is that it could be the most effective way to generate evidence on longer-term outcomes in the Medicare and Medicaid populations that could help guide future practice. However, trying to launch a coverage model for GLP-1s for obesity with an evaluation component might create unanticipated constraints on access, with unknown effects on existing disparities in access and outcomes. Conversely, an evaluation model alone might not address concerns regarding the budgetary impact on the Medicare and Medicaid system, and by extension, on coverage among private insurers that might feel obligated to follow suit and expand coverage to their members.

2. Improve Access in Private Insurance Through Action by the USPSTF

At a federal level, in lieu of Medicare coverage of GLP-1s for obesity, another way to broaden coverage would be to ask the <u>United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF)</u> to evaluate GLP-1s and deem them as preventive treatments worthy of a rating of "A" or "B" that creates a mandate for coverage by all private insurers with no patient cost sharing.

One advantage of mandated coverage across all insurers would be that the disparities in access across different types of purchasers would be eliminated, improving equity and possibly accelerating the ability of the U.S. to benefit from a positive shift in public health.

The corresponding concern about this approach is its impact on the budgets of all purchasers, with the greatest liability for smaller and less financially flexible purchasers. In our interviews we heard from some stakeholders that mandated coverage at current prices would drive up premiums for all participants in private insurance markets so much that many individuals and organizations would not be able to afford insurance. Mandated coverage also creates the risk of limiting the ability of purchasers to use prior authorization, tiered formularies, step therapy, or other utilization management strategies discussed in this report, potentially leading to even greater premium increases for all members. Lastly, a legal challenge to the Affordable Care Act provision that mandates coverage without cost-sharing is due to be heard by the Supreme Court in the summer of

2025, casting further doubt over whether USPSTF action could affect coverage for obesity medications.

3. Reduce Costs Through Aggressive Federal Drug Price Negotiation

Although tirzepatide likely will not be eligible for Medicare price negotiation until 2030, with implementation of negotiated pricing in 2033, semaglutide is at the top of the list of the set of drugs for Medicare price negotiation for implementation in 2027, with total Part D gross spending surpassing the second drug on the list by more than \$9 billion from November 2023 to October 2024. The incoming Trump administration has not commented on its approach to taking over the drug price negotiation process, but since there is no lower price, or price "floor" set by statute, it is possible that Medicare will be more aggressive in price negotiation on semaglutide than it was in its first round of negotiated drug prices, seeking far further discounts than those minimum discounts required under the Inflation Reduction Act (IRA).

Lower prices on brand versions of semaglutide in the Medicare system would seem most likely to lead to lower prices in the commercial market as well, but the negotiated prices on the first round of drugs have not even been fully implemented yet, so there is no experience from which to draw lessons. If negotiation achieves a price for semaglutide lower than its current net price, it remains unclear how payers and purchasers will manage their formularies. Prices negotiated under the IRA process are list prices, and since GLP-1s are heavily rebated, this means that a lower Medicare price for semaglutide will reduce the rebates available to purchasers, payers, and others in the drug delivery system. This could lead purchasers and payers to prefer GLP-1 drugs other than semaglutide that have higher list prices but that continue to offer substantial rebates. Medicare may choose to monitor formulary management of semaglutide closely to ensure that patients gain the benefits of having a lower list price option, but how semaglutide will be managed in commercial insurance formularies is an open question. Although it can be argued that a lower list price option should be preferred since it leads to lower cost barriers for patients, an alternative argument can be made that payers should always prefer the option that is clinically equivalent (or superior) with the lowest net cost to the purchaser, who should "share" the benefits of this lower net cost with patients through benefit design and through keeping employee insurance premiums as low as possible.

4. Reduce Costs by Providing Federal Subsidies for Private Insurance Coverage of Obesity Treatments

If the private insurance market cannot create affordable options for coverage of OMs, leading to significant disparities in access, some of the stakeholders we interviewed believed that the federal government should step in to provide subsidies to private insurers to support a broad requirement that all purchasers provide coverage for OMs. It was also suggested that, in return for federal

subsidies, the federal government could negotiate significant price concessions not just on semaglutide but on all GLP-1s, along the lines of the affordable prices that were negotiated for COVID vaccines and treatments during the pandemic.⁵⁹

Some stakeholders we interviewed favored subsidies, believing that they could be set to expire over a short number of years, and that such an approach might be the only way to guarantee that the U.S. achieves the broad public health benefits of GLP-1 drugs. Others we interviewed thought federal subsidies would be an overreaction and highly unworkable across the wide variety of purchasers and payer types. How to phase out subsidies over a long time frame would also be highly contentious. Federal subsidies would also create a difficult precedent, raising questions of why coverage for treatments of other chronic conditions cannot be subsidized as well.

5. Reduce Costs by Licensing GLP-1 Products from Drugmakers

Along with negotiating lower prices through the IRA process, another governmental action that has been <u>proposed</u> to address the costs of GLP-1 drugs is to require that drugmakers license GLP-1 drugs to generic manufacturers for the express purpose of providing more affordable versions for public payers, including state Medicaid programs and state employee health plans. In return, the federal government could "reasonably" compensate the companies by offering royalties.

Any such move by the federal government to pressure drugmakers to license their intellectual property is extremely unlikely and was not even seen during the height of the COVID pandemic. The drug industry and many analysts fear that this kind of governmental action would send a shock wave through the ecosystem required for investment and risk-taking to bring new innovative treatments forward. Nonetheless, the fact that this idea is being discussed is a testament to the frustration of some public health officials as they wrestle with their inability to provide affordable coverage for treatments that they believe should be available to all Americans.

Conclusion

Obesity is one of the most significant public health challenges faced by the U.S. As a class of drugs, GLP-1s offer a promise of a revolutionary treatment option, one emerging from over 20 years of clinical experience in diabetes that has created strong evidence of sustained weight loss and a seemingly ever-expanding list of additional ways they can improve health.

After so many years of concern and futile efforts, the opportunity to be able to finally address obesity and its health and social effects on a national level is palpable. It is also complicated. The opportunity is clouded by remaining unknowns about whether patients can maintain treatment over many years and about the long-term outcomes of patients taking GLP-1s for indications other than diabetes. Optimism must also be balanced by uncertainties about how best to integrate these treatments with other approaches to obesity, how the fragmented U.S. health care system can adopt treatment without adding to entrenched disparities in access, and by what could be a staggering potential cost to government, private purchasers, insurers, and patients.

This paper has traced the outlines of current attempts to manage the tension between the opportunity, the uncertainties, and the cost of the new generation of OMs. It has also used a broad scan of the literature and insights gained from experts and stakeholders from all perspectives to weigh the potential advantages and disadvantages of market actions and policy solutions to managing GLP-1s. From this effort, several themes have emerged. First, in part because of the pluralistic nature of the U.S. health care system, not only is no single approach able to achieve a perfect balance, but also there remains vigorous debate about what the perfect outcome looks like. Should the U.S. be seeking the broadest possible rapid uptake of GLP-1s, recognizing their landmark effectiveness by shifting huge resources to fund a population-wide campaign to reduce obesity and improve health? Or is a better outcome one of prudent delay, in which uncertainties are explored, price competition and governmental negotiation is awaited, and clinical experience enhanced before a more measured, less costly, and perhaps more targeted and effective approach to GLP-1s and obesity is adopted?

A second theme that has emerged is that, lurking behind this choice, are deeply held views about the root causes of obesity and the priorities of public health, about the level of incentives needed for pharmaceutical innovation, and about the ability of the health system to absorb new costs without creating secondary harms to access and to the overall quality of health care. But we have found that most experts and stakeholders do expect that GLP-1s will rapidly gain broader use and that there are market actions and policy solutions that provide options for finding some kind of "middle ground." Many purchasers and payers today are combining new approaches to applying evidence-based coverage criteria, working with providers or carve-out companies to integrate lifestyle management into a personalized treatment plan, and exploring ways to negotiate lower pricing through formulary management or innovative payment arrangements.

Multi-layered approaches can be designed in myriad ways, and none can completely address the tensions between broad access and costs. As of today, for many purchasers and insurers, there appears to be no combination of market actions that would enable them to provide affordable broad coverage for GLP-1s for obesity. Drugmakers and others may feel that budgetary concerns are overblown, and that purchasers and payers can and should marshal the financial elasticity to absorb the costs of these treatments that are, by standard definition, cost-effective. But the experience of purchasers such as the North Carolina and West Virginia state employee health plans, of private payers such as the Blue Cross Blue Shield plans of Massachusetts and Michigan, and that of a growing number of employers, demonstrate that many purchasers and payers will struggle in the short-term to manage the financial impact of covering GLP-1 treatment for obesity at current pricing, particularly in light of the many uncertainties about longer-term adherence and outcomes. Change is needed, but there is no easy script for all to follow.

If the market is unable by itself to deliver needed outcomes, could federal policy reform help? Another theme we discovered in our interviews was the ambivalence toward federal policy action to help "solve" the private insurance market tensions around GLP-1 coverage. Although many stakeholders realize the positive potential for federal policy to intervene when private insurance markets are unable to provide equitable and affordable access, the landscape is changing so fast, and the uncertainties remain so high regarding future competition and pricing, that most stakeholders seem interested in letting these dynamics play out, at least for a while longer, before seeking aggressive federal action.

And it is this sense of rapid change and uncertainty that is the last major theme of this paper. We have sought to provide perspectives on the potential advantages and the potential limitations or disadvantages of different market actions and policy solutions. But these perspectives are presented within an environment of such rapid change – in emerging new agents, pricing, clinical evidence, federal policy, drug availability, and patient demand – that approaches that may appear the best at one point of time may fade from relevance or even be detrimental at a future time. Drugmakers, purchasers, payers, clinicians, patient advocates, and governmental policy makers will need to remain flexible and ready to adapt their approaches as circumstances change.

One important goal of this paper has therefore been to embed a recognition of uncertainty and the corresponding need for flexibility into our analysis of options for managing GLP-1s. ICER will provide ongoing reviews of the evolving evidence on current and future GLP-1s to inform future market actions and policy considerations. We have also been privileged to work with outstanding leaders and experts who have shared their perspectives with us for this paper. We hope that the product will guide stakeholders in their efforts to achieve the best possible outcomes, both in effectiveness and in affordability, for patients and for the U.S. health system.

Appendix A: 2024 ICER Policy Summit Attendees

Representatives from the following companies and organizations attended ICER's 2024 Policy Summit, which was held from December 11 - 13, 2024 in Phoenix, Arizona:

- Abbott
- AHIP
- Alliance of Community Health Plans (ACHP)
- Alnylam Pharmaceuticals
- AstraZeneca
- AT&T
- Bayer
- Blue Shield of California
- Boehringer Ingelheim
- California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS)
- Centene Corporation
- CVS Health
- Eisai, Inc.
- Elevance Health
- Express Scripts by Evernorth
- GSk
- Health Care Service Corporation (HCSC)
- Humana
- Kaiser Permanente
- MassHealth
- Merck & Co., Inc.
- National Academy for State Health Policy (NASHP)
- National Pharmaceutical Council
- North Carolina State Health Plan
- Novo Nordisk
- Obesity Action Coalition
- Point32Health
- Premera Blue Cross
- Prime Therapeutics
- Regeneron Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
- Sanofi

References

- Institute for Clinical and Economic Review. Medications for Obesity Management:
 Effectiveness and Value.; 2022. https://icer.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/ICER Obesity Final Evidence Report and Meeting Summary 1 22223.pdf
- 2. UBS Investment Bank. GLP-1: A medication worth \$126 billion in sales by 2029? https://www.ubs.com/global/en/investment-bank/insights-and-data/2024/glp-1-a-medication.html
- PricewaterhouseCoopers. From Molecules to Milestones: Reinventing for the Future of Weight Loss Drugs.; 2024. Accessed April 2, 2025. https://www.pwc.com/us/en/services/consulting/business-model-reinvention/glp-1-trends-and-impact-on-business-models.html
- 4. National Institutes of Health (NIH). Our Biggest Health Challenges. National Institutes of Health (NIH). 2023. https://www.nih.gov/about-nih/what-we-do/nih-turning-discovery-into-health/our-biggest-health-challenges
- 5. Alexander GC, Karlawish J. The Problem of Aducanumab for the Treatment of Alzheimer Disease. *Ann Intern Med*. 2021;174(9):1303-1304. doi:10.7326/M21-2603
- 6. Fryar C, Carroll M, Afful J. *Prevalence of Overweight, Obesity, and Severe Obesity Among Adults Aged 20 and Over: United States, 1960–1962 Through 2017–2018.* National Center for Health Statistics, Division of Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/hestat/obesity-adult-17-18/overweight-obesity-adults-H.pdf
- 7. Ward ZJ, Bleich SN, Long MW, Gortmaker SL. Association of body mass index with health care expenditures in the United States by age and sex. *PLOS ONE*. 2021;16(3):e0247307. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0247307
- 8. Cawley J, Biener A, Meyerhoefer C, et al. Direct medical costs of obesity in the United States and the most populous states. *J Manag Care Spec Pharm*. 2021;27(3):10.18553/jmcp.2021.20410. doi:10.18553/jmcp.2021.20410
- 9. Bhattacharya J, Sood N. Who Pays for Obesity? *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*. 2011;25(1):139-157.
- 10. Kuehn B. Obesity Rates Increasing. *JAMA*. 2018;320(16):1632. doi:10.1001/jama.2018.15094
- 11. Puhl RM, Heuer CA. The Stigma of Obesity: A Review and Update. *Obesity*. 2009;17(5):941-964. doi:10.1038/oby.2008.636
- 12. Phelan SM, Burgess DJ, Yeazel MW, Hellerstedt WL, Griffin JM, van Ryn M. Impact of weight bias and stigma on quality of care and outcomes for patients with obesity. *Obesity Reviews*. 2015;16(4):319-326. doi:10.1111/obr.12266
- 13. Heymsfield SB, Wadden TA. Mechanisms, Pathophysiology, and Management of Obesity. Longo DL, ed. *N Engl J Med*. 2017;376(3):254-266. doi:10.1056/NEJMra1514009

- 14. Cypess AM. Reassessing Human Adipose Tissue. Ingelfinger JR, ed. *N Engl J Med*. 2022;386(8):768-779. doi:10.1056/NEJMra2032804
- 15. Walczuk S, Burk M, Furmaga E, et al. Weight management medications for chronic use in 37 veterans affairs medical centers-A medication use evaluation. *Obes Sci Pract*. 2024;10(5):e70002. doi:10.1002/osp4.70002
- 16. Latif W, Lambrinos KJ, Patel P, Rodriguez R. Compare and Contrast the Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 Receptor Agonists (GLP1RAs). In: *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing; 2024. Accessed September 28, 2024. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK572151/
- 17. Research C for DE and. FDA approves weight management drug for patients aged 12 and older. *US Food and Drug Administration*. Published online September 30, 2021. Accessed September 29, 2024. https://www.fda.gov/drugs/news-events-human-drugs/fda-approves-weight-management-drug-patients-aged-12-and-older
- 18. Drucker DJ. Mechanisms of Action and Therapeutic Application of Glucagon-like Peptide-1. *Cell Metabolism*. 2018;27(4):740-756. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2018.03.001
- 19. Gleason PP, Urick BY, Marshall LZ, Friedlander N, Qiu Y, Leslie RS. Real-world persistence and adherence to glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists among obese commercially insured adults without diabetes. *JMCP*. 2024;30(8):860-867. doi:10.18553/jmcp.2024.23332
- 20. Real-World Trends in GLP-1 Treatment Persistence and Prescribing for Weight Management.

 Blue Health Intelligence; 2024.

 https://www.bcbs.com/media/pdf/BHI Issue Brief GLP1 Trends.pdf
- 21. Hicborn J, Kaganoff S, Subramanian N, Yaar Z. *Using Data to Improve Patient Adherence*. McKinsey; 2018. Accessed January 9, 2025. https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/life-sciences/our-insights/improving-patient-adherence-through-data-driven-insights#/
- 22. Jackevicius CA. Adherence With Statin Therapy in Elderly Patients With and Without Acute Coronary Syndromes. *JAMA*. 2002;288(4):462. doi:10.1001/jama.288.4.462
- 23. Benner JS. Long-term Persistence in Use of Statin Therapy in Elderly Patients. *JAMA*. 2002;288(4):455. doi:10.1001/jama.288.4.455
- 24. Novo Nordisk. Novo Nordisk introduces NovoCare® Pharmacy, lowering cost of all doses of FDA-approved Wegovy® (semaglutide) to \$499 per month and offering easy home delivery for cash-paying patients. March 5, 2025. Accessed April 2, 2025. https://www.novonordisk-us.com/media/news-archive/news-details.html?id=915288
- 25. Eli Lilly. Lilly launches additional Zepbound vial doses and offers new savings for self-pay patients. Accessed April 2, 2025. https://investor.lilly.com/news-releases/news-rel
- 26. Kelly CA, Sipos JA. Approach to the patient with thyroid nodules: considering GLP-1 receptor agonists. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*. Published online October 14, 2024:dgae722. doi:10.1210/clinem/dgae722
- 27. Allen A. Why millions are trying alternatives to Big Pharma's weight loss drugs CBS News. https://www.cbsnews.com/news/fda-approved-alternatives-ozempic-wegovy-mounjaro-compounding-pharmacies/. July 20, 2024. Accessed September 29, 2024.

- 28. Knibbs K. It's Shockingly Easy to Buy Off-Brand Ozempic Online, Even If You Don't Need It. Wired. https://www.wired.com/story/glp1-ozempic-wegovy-semaglutide-compounding-pharmacies-hims-reflexmd-alan-meds-henry-ro-getthinmd/. July 12, 2024. Accessed December 3, 2024.
- 29. Allen A. Why Millions Are Trying FDA-Authorized Alternatives to Big Pharma's Weight Loss Drugs. KFF Health News. July 23, 2024. Accessed November 5, 2024.

 https://kffhealthnews.org/news/article/glp1-compounding-pharmacies-wegovy-zepbound-copycat-drugs-shortages/
- 30. Hach M, Engelund DK, Mysling S, et al. Impact of Manufacturing Process and Compounding on Properties and Quality of Follow-On GLP-1 Polypeptide Drugs. *Pharm Res*. 2024;41(10):1991-2014. doi:10.1007/s11095-024-03771-6
- 31. U.S. Food & Drug Administration. FDA's Concerns with Unapproved GLP-1 Drugs Used for Weight Loss. October 2, 2024. https://www.fda.gov/drugs/postmarket-drug-safety-information-patients-and-providers/fdas-concerns-unapproved-glp-1-drugs-used-weight-loss
- 32. Leading Obesity Expert Organizations Release Statement to Patients on Compounded GLP-1 Alternatives. Obesity Medicine Association; 2024. Accessed November 5, 2024. https://obesitymedicine.org/blog/leading-obesity-expert-organizations-release-statement-to-patients-on-glp-1-compounded-alternatives/
- 33. Neumiller JJ, Bajaj M, Bannuru RR, et al. Compounded GLP-1 and Dual GIP/GLP-1 Receptor Agonists: A Statement from the American Diabetes Association. *Diabetes Care*. 2025;48(2):177-181. doi:10.2337/dci24-0091
- 34. Swelitz I, Muller M. Lilly Demands Doctors Stop Selling Copycat Weight-Loss Drugs.

 Bloomberg.com. https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2024-08-14/lilly-lly-demands-doctors-stop-selling-copycat-weight-loss-drugs. August 14, 2024. Accessed September 29, 2024.
- 35. Muller M. Lilly Wants Records of People Who Took Weight-Loss Knockoffs. *Bloomberg.com*. https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2024-09-19/lilly-wants-records-from-people-who-took-weight-loss-knockoffs. September 19, 2024. Accessed September 29, 2024.
- 36. Sharma A. Eli Lilly resolves shortage for tirzepatide, potentially ending compounders' run. Endpoints News. October 3, 2024. Accessed November 5, 2024. https://endpts.com/eli-lilly-resolves-shortage-for-tirzepatide-ending-compounders-run/
- 37. Allen A. Why Millions Are Trying FDA-Authorized Alternatives to Big Pharma's Weight Loss Drugs. *KFF Health News*. https://kffhealthnews.org/news/article/glp1-compounding-pharmacies-wegovy-zepbound-copycat-drugs-shortages/. July 23, 2024.
- 38. Morningstar. *Obesity Drug Market: The Next Wave of GLP-1 Competition.*; 2024. https://www.morningstar.com/lp/obesity-drug-market

- 39. Hart R. Ozempic And Wegovy Rivals: Here Are The Companies Working On Competitor Weight Loss Drugs. *Forbes*. https://www.forbes.com/sites/roberthart/2024/07/16/ozempic-and-wegovy-rivals-here-are-the-companies-working-on-competitor-weight-loss-drugs/. July 16, 2024. Accessed September 28, 2024.
- 40. Anderson K, Helal K, Conover D. Obesity Drug Market: The Next Wave of GLP-1 Competition. Morningstar; 2024. Accessed September 28, 2024. https://www.morningstar.com/lp/obesity-drug-market
- 41. Bruen B, Brantley E, Thompson V, Steinmetz E, Helmchen L. *High-Cost HCV Drugs in Medicaid: Final Report*. The George Washington University; 2017.

 https://www.macpac.gov/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/High-Cost-HCV-Drugs-in-Medicaid-Final-Report.pdf
- 42. Chahal HS, Marseille EA, Tice JA, et al. Cost-effectiveness of Early Treatment of Hepatitis C Virus Genotype 1 by Stage of Liver Fibrosis in a US Treatment-Naive Population. *JAMA Internal Medicine*. 2016;176(1):65-73. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.6011
- 43. Sovaldi (Sofosbuvir) Prices, Coupons & Savings Tips. Accessed September 28, 2024. https://www.goodrx.com/sovaldi
- 44. HHS Announces 15 Additional Drugs Selected for Medicare Drug Price Negotiations in Continued Effort to Lower Prescription Drug Costs for Seniors. January 17, 2025. Accessed April 2, 2025. https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/press-releases/hhs-announces-15-additional-drugs-selected-medicare-drug-price-negotiations-continued-effort-lower
- 45. Hartung DM, Bourdette DN, Ahmed SM, Whitham RH. The cost of multiple sclerosis drugs in the US and the pharmaceutical industry: Too big to fail? *Neurology*. 2015;84(21):2185-2192. doi:10.1212/WNL.000000000001608
- 46. Johnson CY, Dennis B. How an \$84,000 drug got its price" Let's hold our position...whatever the headlines'. *The Washington Post*.

 https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/wonk/wp/2015/12/01/how-an-84000-drug-got-its-price-lets-hold-our-position-whatever-the-headlines/. December 1, 2015.
- 47. Cubanski J, Published EW. Proposed Coverage of Anti-Obesity Drugs in Medicare and Medicaid Would Expand Access to Millions of People with Obesity. KFF. November 26, 2024. Accessed January 17, 2025. https://www.kff.org/policy-watch/proposed-coverage-of-anti-obesity-drugs-in-medicare-and-medicaid-would-expand-access-to-millions-of-people-with-obesity/
- 48. Liu BY, Rome BN. State Coverage and Reimbursement of Antiobesity Medications in Medicaid. *JAMA*. 2024;331(14):1230-1232. doi:10.1001/jama.2024.3073
- 49. Hinton E, Williams E, Raphael J, et al. *50 State Medicaid Budget Survey Fiscal Years 2023-2024*.; 2023. Accessed September 27, 2024. https://www.kff.org/report-section/50-state-medicaid-budget-survey-fy-2023-2024-pharmacy/
- 50. Bannow T. More state Medicaid programs consider covering GLP-1 drugs. STAT. October 23, 2024. Accessed November 5, 2024. https://www.statnews.com/2024/10/23/medicaid-wegovy-saxenda-glp-1-weight-loss-drugs/

- 51. Klein H. Rising Costs Lead Insurers to Drop Weight Loss Drug Coverage, Further Increasing Patient Burden. 2024;30:SP781-SP782.
- 52. Goforth A. North Carolina ends coverage of new weight loss drugs for 750,000 state employees. *Benefits Pro*. https://www.benefitspro.com/2024/05/17/north-carolina-ends-coverage-of-glp-1-weight-loss-drugs-for-750000-state-employees/?slreturn=20241106182539. May 17, 2024.
- 53. Scannell C, Romley J, Myerson R, Goldman D, Qato DM. Prescription Fills for Semaglutide Products by Payment Method. *JAMA Health Forum*. 2024;5(8):e242026. doi:10.1001/jamahealthforum.2024.2026
- 54. DeSilver D. As obesity rates rise in the U.S. and worldwide, new weight-loss drugs surge in popularity. *Pew Research Center*. https://www.pewresearch.org/short-reads/2024/03/21/as-obesity-rates-rise-in-the-us-and-worldwide-new-weight-loss-drugs-surge-in-popularity/. March 21, 2024.
- 55. Cubanski J, Neuman T. Medicare Spending on Ozempic and Other GLP-1s Is Skyrocketing. *KFF*. https://www.kff.org/policy-watch/medicare-spending-on-ozempic-and-other-glp-1s-is-skyrocketing/. March 22, 2024.
- 56. Logan J, Jarzombek R. *Pharmacy Benefits Overview and Inflation Reduction Act (IRA) Update*. CalPERS; 2024. https://www.calpers.ca.gov/docs/board-agendas/202409/pension/item-6b-attach-1 a.pdf
- 57. Ippolito B, Levy JF. Expanding Medicare Coverage Of Anti-Obesity Medicines Could Increase Annual Spending By \$3.1 Billion To \$6.1 Billion. *Health Affairs*. 2024;43(9):1254-1262. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2024.00356
- 58. Pearson SD, Towse A, Lowe M, Segel CS, Henshall C. Cornerstones of 'fair' drug coverage: appropriate cost sharing and utilization management policies for pharmaceuticals. *Journal of Comparative Effectiveness Research*. Published online February 12, 2021. https://icer.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/JCER-Cornerstones-of-Fair-Access-published.pdf
- 59. Novo Nordisk. HIGHLIGHTS OF PRESCRIBING INFORMATION (Wegovy). Published online June 2021. https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/label/2021/215256s000lbl.pdf
- 60. Eli Lilly and Company. HIGHLIGHTS OF PRESCRIBING INFORMATION (ZEPBOUND). Published online November 2023.
 https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda docs/label/2024/217806s005s006s011s015s0
 19lbl.pdf
- 61. Vita. GLP-1 Drugs for Weight Loss: What Employers Need to Know. Vita. February 2024. https://vitacompanies.com/blog/glp1-drugs-for-weight-loss-what-employers-need-to-know
- 62. McGough M, Tevis D, Rae M, Cox C. How many adults with private health insurance could use GLP-1 drugs. Peterson-KFF Health System Tracker. September 5, 2024.

 https://www.healthsystemtracker.org/brief/how-many-adults-with-private-health-insurance-could-use-glp-1-drugs/

- 63. Blue Shield of California. Weight Loss Medication Coverage Change Fact Sheet.; 2024. https://www.blueshieldca.com/content/dam/bsca/en/provider/docs/Weight-Loss-Drug-Exclusion-Fact-Sheet.pdf
- 64. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Semaglutide for Managing

 Overweight and Obesity.; 2022. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta875/documents/final-appraisal-determination-document
- 65. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Consultation on NHS England proposals for a phased launch of obesity injection. *National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE)*. https://www.nice.org.uk/news/articles/consultation-on-nhs-england-proposals-for-a-phased-launch-of-obesity-injection. October 3, 2024.
- 66. Smith BM, Criminisi A, Sorek N, Harari Y, Sood N, Heymsfield SB. Modeling health risks using neural network ensembles. *PLoS One*. 2024;19(10):e0308922. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0308922
- 67. Kim DD, Fendrick AM. An Efficient Approach to Expand Equitable Access to Antiobesity Medications: Deprescribing After Weight Loss Plateau. *Am J Manag Care*. 2024;30(8):348-350. doi:10.37765/ajmc.2024.89586
- 68. Wilding JPH, Batterham RL, Davies M, et al. Weight regain and cardiometabolic effects after withdrawal of semaglutide: The STEP 1 trial extension. *Diabetes Obes Metab*. 2022;24(8):1553-1564. doi:10.1111/dom.14725
- 69. Liu HH, Mulcahy AW, Rose AJ. Subscription Models for Prescription Drugs: The Motivation, Potential, and Limitations of a New Payment Model. RAND Corporation; 2020. Accessed November 5, 2024. https://www.rand.org/pubs/perspectives/PEA289-1.html
- 70. Baghdadi R. Medicaid Best Price. *Health Affairs Brief*. Published online August 10, 2017. Accessed November 5, 2024. https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hpb20171008.000173/full/
- 71. Dedicated clinical care to make lasting change. FormHealth. https://www.formhealth.co/how-it-works
- 72. Bays HE, Fitch A, Francavilla Brown C, Younglove C, Christensen SM, Alexander LC. Frequently asked questions to the 2023 Obesity Medicine Association Position Statement on Compounded Peptides: A call for action. *Obesity Pillars*. 2024;11:100122. doi:10.1016/j.obpill.2024.100122